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In 2011, BTA (hereinafter the Company) has focused on developing its position in foreign markets. Also, 

2011 was the year of a debt crisis in the economies of the European Union. Despite that, there were regions 

within the European Union that continued growing. 

Macroeconomic data for the Latvian economy in 2011 are better than expected. It is, however, likely to take 

time before the effects are felt in the insurance market. The Company believes that changes in the 

macroeconomic situation affect insurance market with a certain delay. 

It is also more difficult now to monitor the Latvian insurance market as it has become less transparent due to 

insurance companies registered in Latvia servicing customers from abroad and foreign insurers beginning to 

operate in Latvia more actively, making use of freedom of cross-border services, or registering their branches 

in Latvia. 

In 2011, the Company commenced operating as a European Company (SE) and changed its name to “BTA 

Insurance Company” SE with the registered address at Kr. Valdemara 63, Riga, Latvia, LV-1142. 

This step is expected to improve the Company’s recognition on the EU level, and to reduce the risk of a 

sudden worsening of the investment climate in Latvia. Integration of Latvia in the common European 

political and economic system offers the Company more effective business strategies and sales opportunities 

which the Company is planning to use. 

Furthermore, in 2011 the Company was working actively on maintaining customer loyalty and further 

developing its sales network. At the same time, we continued working on the improvement of insurance 

products and services which were simplified and made easier to understand for the benefit of our clients and 

sales persons. Significant efforts were made to improve internal processes and quality delivery of services.  

A critical component of the Company’s human resources system is improvement of staff qualifications, 

which we are ready to continue to invest in it despite the fact that the Latvian labour market is impacted by 

increased economic emigration to other EU member states. 

The Company has made use of the EU common market and in 2011 has strengthened its sales network in a 

number of member states.  

In early 2012, the Company completed the legal procedures and opened a branch in the United Kingdom. In 

total, there are four branches of the Company registered in Lithuania, Estonia, Germany and the United 

Kingdom. We are planning to extend the branch network in other EU Member States. 

The reorganization of the Group was finalized, and on 1 January 2011, UAB BTA Draudimas, a fully owned 

subsidiary, became a branch of the Company. The reorganization process had a material impact on the 

financial results of the Company for 2011. 

However, also the comparison of the results for 2011 with the Group's results of 2010 shows that the gross 

written premiums have increased by 15.31% amounting to LVL 82.75 million (comparing to LVL 71.76 

million in 2010 as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. 

Net written premiums in the reporting period amounted to LVL 75.18 million.  

In 2011 the Company paid claims in the amount of LVL 46.20 million and net claims incurred amounted to 

LVL 45.03 million.  

The Company is the largest non-life insurance company in Latvia by gross written premiums, total assets and 

technical reserves.  

The four primary lines of business of the Company are motor compulsory third party liability, motor own 

damage, health and property insurance. 

Gross technical reserves at the end of 2011 amounted to LVL 79.75 million and it is the largest in Latvia. 

Net technical reserves are LVL 69.48 million. The Company’s equity as at 31 December 2011 amounted to 

LVL 29.1 million and has increased comparing to 2010. 

The reinsurance policy of the Company has not undergone significant changes in 2011 and the structure of 

reinsurance agreements and the main partners have remained the same. Similar to the previous years, risks 

are reinsured primarily with reinsurers rated A.   
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The above factors have resulted in stable operation and a satisfactory financial position. Profit of 2011 before 

tax is LVL 3.46 million. Profit after tax amounts to LVL 3.17 million, which is decrease comparing to 2010. 

The main reasons for the decrease of profit are an increased competition in the insurance market, and smaller 

return on investments.  

The Company in 2011 did not change its conservative approach to investment policy – it is based on secure, 

liquid and diversified assets that ensure stability in potential situations of financial stress. The Company is 

carefully following macroeconomic developments in the European Union, and adjusts investment policy 

accordingly. The total Company’s exposure against higher risk countries in the investment portfolio is 

immaterial and does not exceed 5% of equity. 

At the end of 2011, the Baltics faced a banking crisis – the operations of Snoras Bankas in Lithuania and 

Krājbanka in Latvia were suspended, which had an adverse impact on profit for 2011. In the reporting year, 

the Company recognized losses in the amount of deposits in these banks in excess of those compensated by 

Guarantee funds. 

In view of the upcoming implementation of Solvency II in the European Union and in order to secure further 

development of the Company in Latvia and EU member states, the Board recommends to retain at least 40 % 

of the profit of the reporting year undistributed. 

In 2011, key to the Company’s operations continued to be understanding the clients’ needs and seeking to 

foresee trends in the insurance market. Saving money, comparing prices and making reasonable expenses 

were the primary drivers behind the Company’s clients’ decision making last year. In response to the clients’ 

needs, the Company changed its services and pricing policies to meet the needs of different clients.  

The Company in 2011 worked to improve the availability of its services, retaining an extensive sales network 

and developing both sales processes and remote reporting of claims via the Internet and telecommunication 

technologies. As the clients’ portfolio outside of Latvia is increasing, the Company offers a full range of 

insurance services in the Baltics countries. The key focus in the future will be common servicing standards, 

development of a common supporting infrastructure and maintaining flexibility in the client relationships. 

As part of operating activities, the Company is subject to various financial risks. Risk management policy is 

actively and systematically implemented in daily operations, addressing both insurance risks and risks 

arising from investing activities of the Company. Insurance risk management and related controls are 

implemented via insurance risk underwriting methodologies, underwriting limits and reinsurance policies.  

Risks in connection with investments made by the Company are controlled in accordance with the 

Company’s approved investment policy. The Company’s investment policy prescribes limits in respect of 

deals with one counterparty, as well as limits in respect of credit ratings of the securities purchased by the 

Company.  

Liquidity risk is reduced by investing in highly liquid financial instruments. 

Market risks include interest rate risk, price risk and currency risk. Management of interest rate risk is 

effected, among other, by calculating the duration of the investment portfolio and its sensitivity towards 

changes in interest rates.  

The Company expects that the Latvian economy will continue to recover in 2012. At the same time, we 

expect that the return to inflation will have an increasing impact on the entire economy. 

The Company plans to increase operations in 2012 in line with changes in the market situation. The main 

focus will be profitability – ensuring positive technical result across its lines of business. Positive technical 

results will be of ever increasing importance as income from investments continues to decrease as investment 

terms end and assets are reinvested at lower rates. In order to achieve the goals in 2012 the Company is 

planning to focus on improving the operation of Risk underwriters and invest resources in improving the 

material and technical equipment necessary for this process.  

During the reporting year, the Company was in compliance with the requirements of the Commercial Law 

and other applicable legislation acts. 
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No events have occurred since the year end that according to the Board of the Company may have a 

significant impact on the financial statement presentation. 

On behalf of the Board, we express gratitude to our clients, partners and employees for their loyalty and 

support. With your support the Company will continue to develop and provide our clients with better 

services. 

We wish success to everyone in their further activities. 

 

 

 

 

 

13 April 2012 
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In 2011, BTA Insurance Company SE Board of Directors, which consists of five members, continued to be 

responsible for the management of the company. The Management regularly informed the Council about key 

developments in the Company and provided necessary explanations. 

The management assumes responsibility for the preparation of the accounting records, compliance in the 

process of booking transactions with the regulating norms applicable to accounting, safekeeping of the assets 

of the Company, as well as the prevention of fraud and other dishonest activities.  

The Company’s management assumes responsibility for the preparation of the Company's financial 

statements for 2011 prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union to reflect the 

activities of BTA Insurance Company SE from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011. 

The Company’s Management confirms that the Company's financial statements for 2011 have been prepared 

in accordance with the effective requirements of legislation and the Financial and Capital Market 

Commission and IFRS, and gives a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position at the end of the 

reporting year as well as the operating results and cash flows for the year, in accordance with IFRS as 

adopted by the European Union.  

The Company's financial statements for 2011 have been prepared on the basis of prudent decisions and 

assumptions of management. 

Management confirms that the requirements of Latvian legislation and applicable legislation in other EU 

countries have been met and that the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

The management is not aware of any significant events after the year-end, which are not reflected in this 

annual report and that might have a material impact on activities of the insurance company and the 

assessment of the annual report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13 April 2012 
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For the year ended 31 December 2011   

 Note 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Earned premiums    

Written premiums    

Gross written premiums 5 82 750 48 522 

Reinsurers’ share in written premiums 5, 24 (5 897) (4 198) 

Net written premiums 5 76 853 44 324 

Change in unearned premium and unexpired risk technical 

reserves    

Gross change 7 (1 379) 904 

Reinsurers’ share 7, 24 (299) (172) 

Change in net  unearned premium and unexpired risk technical 

reserves 7 (1 678) 732 

Net earned premiums 6 75 175 45 056 

Other technical income, net 8 431 356 

Incurred claims, net    

Paid claims, net    

Gross claims paid 9 (46 196) (25 101) 

Paid claims  (45 414) (24 743) 

Loss adjustment expenses  (3 116) (1 735) 

Recovered losses  2 334 1 377 

Reinsurers’ share of claims paid 9, 24 2 779 881 

Net paid claims 9 (43 417) (24 220) 

Change in outstanding claim technical reserve    

Change in gross outstanding claim technical reserve 10 (53) (5 811) 

Reinsurers’ share 10, 24 (1 558) 2 884  

Change in net outstanding claim technical reserve 10 (1 611) (2 927) 

Net incurred claims 11 (45 028) (27 147) 

Operating expenses/ income    

Client acquisition costs 12 (16 097) (7 847) 

Change in deferred client acquisition costs 13 1 396 1 108 

Administrative expenses 14 (12 715) (9 741) 

Depreciation and amortisation 25, 26 27 (813) (410) 

Reinsurance commission income, net 15, 24 1 082 456 

Change in unearned reinsurance commission  16,24 (129) 73 

Net operating expenses  (27 276) (16 361) 

Other technical expenses, net 17 (440) (237) 
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Note 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Investment management charges 18 (73) (52) 

Interest income and dividend income, net 19 2 414 2 018 

Gain/ (loss) from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss, net 20 (45) 1 359 

Gain/ (loss) on foreign currency fluctuation   (708) 165 

Revaluation of investment property, land and buildings 26 - (284) 

Impairment loss 21 (905) (446) 

Other income/expenses, net 22 (90) (115) 

Profit before tax  3 455 4 312 

Income tax expense 23 (285) (582) 

Net profit for the year  3 170 3 730 

Other comprehensive income    

Revaluation of land and buildings  - (61) 

Deferred tax effects on revaluation of land and buildings  - 9 

Change in equalization reserve  - 10 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - (42) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  3 170 3 688 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 72 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13 April 2012 
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Assets Note 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

    

Land and buildings 26 3 222 3 112 

Property and equipment 25 1 750 531 

    

Intangible assets 27 181 73 

    

Investment property 26 2 356 2 356 

    

Investment in subsidiary 1 (b) - 4 243 

    

Investments at fair value through profit or loss    

Shares and other non-fixed income securities 28 5 028 3 195 

Debt securities and other fixed income securities 28 56 867 22 529 

Total investments at fair value through profit or loss  61 895 25 724 

Available-for-sale financial assets    

Shares and other non-fixed income securities 29 515 412 

    

 Deposits with banks 30 11 654 15 836 

Total financial investments  74 064 46 215 

Loans and receivables    

Loans     

Mortgage loans  4 981 2 664 

Other loans  1 723 2 752 

Total loans issued 31 6 704 5 416 

Receivables    

Receivables from direct insurance activities    
Due from policy holders  7 774 5 187 

Due from intermediaries  1 871 1 071 

Total receivables from direct insurance activities 32 9 645 6 258 

Receivables from reinsurance activities  271 65 

Other receivables 33 1 203 1 367 

Prepaid income tax  38 168 312 

Total receivables  11 287 8 002 

Total loans and receivables  17 991 13 418 

Accrued income and deferred expenses    

Deferred client acquisition costs 13 5 548 2 879 

Other accrued income and deferred expenses  244 120 

Total accrued income and deferred expenses  5 792 2 999 

    

Reinsurance contract assets    

Reinsurers’ share in unearned premiums technical reserves 7 1 343 1 282 

Reinsurers’ share in outstanding claim technical reserve 10 8 924 6 522 

Total  assets from reinsurance contracts 46 10 267 7 804 

Deferred tax asset 37 278 - 

Cash 34 2 178 1 109 

Total assets  118 079 77 617 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 72 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Equity and liabilities Note 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Equity    

Share capital 36 10 000 10 000 

Share premium  7 219 7 219 

Revaluation reserves 36 1 686 1 686 

Equalisation reserve 36 36 36 

Reserve capital and other reserves 36 5 993 2 993 

Retained earnings:    

Retained earnings from prior years  1 046 - 

Current year profit   3 170 3 730 

Total equity  29 150 25 664 

Liabilities    

Technical reserves    

Technical reserves for unearned premiums and unexpired risks 7 33 430 22 222 

Outstanding claim technical reserves 10 46 317 25 727 

Total technical reserves 46 79 747 47 949 
    

Creditors    

Direct insurance creditors    

Due to policy holders  3 485 44 

Due to intermediaries  1 061 658 

Total direct insurance creditors  4 546 702 

   

Reinsurance creditors 39 1 687 1 114 

Taxes and social contributions 38 448 296 

Other creditors 40 1 032 611 

Total creditors  7 713 2 723 
   

Deferred tax liabilities 37 418 560 

Provisions 42 717 516 

Unearned reinsurance commission income 16 334 205 

    

Total liabilities  88 929 51 953 

Total equity and liabilities  
118 079 77 617 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 72 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
13 April 2012 
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 Note 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Cash flows from insurance activities    

Premiums received in direct insurance  86 595 50 887 

Claims paid in direct insurance  (46 196) (25 123) 

Payments received from reinsurers  2 449 - 

Payments made to reinsurers  (5 259) (4 463) 

Payments received in assumed reinsurance  - 631 

Payments made for assumed reinsurance  - (139) 

Income tax paid 38 (493) (1 225) 

Obligatory payments 35 (1 487) (547) 

Payments to employees  (6 771) (6 835) 

Payments to intermediaries  (8 990) (3 859) 

Other payments made  (13 207) (5 797) 

Other payment received  1 007 903 

Total cash flows from insurance activities  7 648 4 433 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    
Acquisition of investments  (307 403) (152 851) 

Disposal of investments  297 006 147 800 

Investment income received  2 029 1 758 

Dividends received  31 15 

Total cash flows from investing activities  (8 337) (3 278) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from  increase in shares  - 245 

Dividends paid  (633) (1 157) 

Total cash flows from financing activities  (633) (912) 

    

Cash and cash equivalent net decrease  (1 322) 243 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents 

held   
(239) 

165 

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year  4 991 4 583 

Assumed in reorganization 1(b) 839 - 

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year 34 4 269 4 991 

 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 72 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13 April 2012 
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Share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Revaluation 

reserve 

Equalisation 

reserve 

Reserve 

capital and 

other 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings 
Total 

Equity 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

        

31.12.2009 10 000 7 219 1 738 26 720 3 223 22 926 

Total comprehensive 

income 
       

Profit for the year - - - - - 3 730 3 730 

Other comprehensive 

income        

Decrease in 

revaluation reserve 

land and buildings - - (61) - - - (61) 

Deferred tax effects 

on revaluation of 

land and buildings - - 9 - - - 9 

Change in 

equalisation reserve - - - 10 - - 10 

Transactions with 

shareholders        

Transfer of 2009 

profit to other 

reserves - - - - 2 273 (2 273) - 

Dividends - - - - - (950) (950) 

31.12.2010 10 000 7 219 1 686 36  2 993 3 730 25 664 

Total comprehensive 

income 
       

Profit for the year - - - - - 3 170 3 170 

Transactions with 

shareholders        

Transfer of 2010 

profit to other 

reserves - - - - 3 000 (3 000) - 

Dividends - - - - - (730) (730) 

Effect of 

reorganization (Note 1 

(b)) - - - - - 1 046 1 046 

31.12.2011 10 000 7 219 1 686 36 5 993 4 216 29 150 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 14 to 72 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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(1) General information 

(a) Principal activities 

BTA Insurance Company SE (hereinafter the “Company”) is a company domiciled in the Republic of Latvia 

(“Latvia”). The Company was registered in 1993 in Riga, Latvia as a Joint Stock Insurance Company. In 

2011 the Company changed legal status from JSC to SE. The head office is located in Riga, Kr. Valdemara 

iela 63, Republic of Latvia.  

The Company offers a wide range of non-life insurance products to legal entities and individuals in the 

following insurance lines:  

• motor own damage insurance (CASCO); 

• compulsory motor third party liability (CMTPL); 

• health; 

• property (fire risks); 

• property (other risks); 

• travel accident; 

• general third party liability; 

• various financial risks; 

• cargo; 

• personal accident insurance; 

• railway; 

• marine; 

• guarantees; and 

• motor voluntarily third party liability; 

• legal risks. 

Insurance services are offered through the network of branches, agencies and sales points in Latvia, 

Lithuania, Estonia, Germany and several other EU countries.  

The Company has foreign branches. The registered address of the branch in Estonia is Peterburi tee 2F, 

Tallinn 11415, in Lithuania - Verkiu 29- 18, Vilnius and in Germany - Robert-Bosch-Str. 6 64807 Dieburg.  

(b) Investment in subsidiary 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Investment in BTA Draudimas - 4 225 

Investment in BTA Help OU - 18 

 - 4 243 

 

(i) According to decision of shareholder’s from 28 July 2010, on 1 January 2011 the Company completed 

reorganization as a result of which the 100% subsidiary in Lithuania, UAB BTA Draudimas, was merged 

with the parent company. BTA Insurance Company SE took over all assets, rights and liabilities, including 

the insurance portfolio, of UAB BTA Draudimas. UAB BTA Draudimas was liquidated as an entity and 

removed from the Lithuanian Company Register on 31 December 2011. As of the above date, insurance 

activities in Lithuania are carried out via the branch of BTA Insurance Company SE.  
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All assets and liabilities were taken over at their carrying amounts as both companies are under common 

control. All intercompany balances as at 1 January 2011 were eliminated. As a result of the reorganization, 

the Company has taken over the following assets and liabilities: 

Assets TLVL Liabilities TLVL 

Intangible assets (Note 27) 109 

Unearned premium reserves 

(Note 7)  9 829 

Fixed assets (Note 25) 416 Claim reserves (Note 10) 20 537 

Land (Note 26) 191 Liabilities  4 934 

Investments 29 117 Provisions  9 

Debtors and loans 1 540 

Accrued expenses and deferred 

income  1 835 

Income tax prepayment 24   

Accrued income and deferred expenses  4 588   

Deferred acquisition cost (Note 13) 1 011   

Reinsurer’s share in unearned premium 

reserves (Note 7) 360   

Reinsurer’s share in technical reserves 

(Note 10) 3 960   

Cash  821   

Deferred tax assets (Note 37)  278   

Total assets taken over 42 415 Total liabilities taken over 37 144 

 

Net assets taken over  5 271 

Investment in the subsidiary (4 225) 

Net equity excess recognized in reserves 1 046 

(ii) According to decision of shareholder’s from 20 December 2010, on 29 March 2011 the Company 

completed reorganization as a result of which the 100% subsidiary in Estonia, BTA Help OU, was merged 

with the parent company. BTA Insurance Company SE took over all assets, rights and liabilities of BTA 

Help OU. BTA Help OU was liquidated as an entity and removed from the Estonian Company Register on 

29 March 2011.  

All assets and liabilities were taken over at their carrying amounts as both companies are under common 

control. All intercompany balances as at 1 April 2011 were eliminated. As a result of the reorganization, the 

Company has taken over the cash balance of LVL 18 thousand and eliminated investment in BTA Help OU 

amounting LVL 18 thousand.    

(c) Shareholders 

Shareholders of the Company are residents of Latvia – 1 legal entity and 6 individuals, none of which owns 

more than 33%. 
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(2) Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union.  

The financial statements are also compliant with the regulations of the Financial and Capital Market 

Commission of Latvia (“FCMC”) in force as at the reporting date.  

The financial statements (hereinafter „the financial statements”) were approved by the Board of Directors on 

13 April 2012. The shareholders have the right to reject the financial statements and request that new 

financial statements are prepared and reissued. 

(b) Functional and Presentation Currency 

The amounts presented in these financial statements are in Latvian lats (LVL), the monetary unit of the 

Republic of Latvia and the functional currency of the Company and which has fixed rate to Euro. 

Functional currency for branch in Lithuania is Litas. Functional currency for branches in Germany and 

Estonia is Euro. Functional currency for the branch in Estonia till 1 January 2011 was Estonian Kroon. 

(c) Reporting period 

The reporting period comprises 12 months from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011. 

(d) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items which 

are carried at fair value: derivatives, financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or 

loss, available-for-sale instruments (except those whose fair value cannot be reliably estimated), investment 

property which are fair value, and land and buildings that are re-valued periodically.  

Consistent accounting principles have been applied to the financial years disclosed in these financial 

statements.  

(3) Significant accounting policies 

3.1 Changes in accounting policies 

New and amended standards and interpretations mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 

1 January 2011 but not currently relevant to the Company or having no impact on the Company’s financial 

statements: 

• Revised IAS 24 Related Party Disclosure (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2011). The amendment exempts a government-related entity from the disclosure requirements in relation 

to related party transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, with (a) a government 

that has control, joint control or significant influence over the reporting entity; and (b) another entity that 

is a related party because the same government has control, joint control or significant influence over 

both the reporting entity and the other entity. The revised Standard requires specific disclosures to be 

provided if a reporting entity takes advantage of this exemption. The revised Standard also amends the 

definition of a related party which resulted in new relations being included in the definition, such as, 

associates of the controlling shareholder and entities controlled, or jointly controlled, by key 

management personnel. Revised IAS 24 has not resulted in any new relations requiring disclosure in the 

financial statements of the Company. 

• Amendment to IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 

Requirements and their Interaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011). 

The amendment of IFRIC 14 addresses the accounting treatment for prepayments made when there is 

also a minimum funding requirements (MFR). Under the amendments, an entity is required to recognize 

certain prepayments as an asset on the basis that the entity has a future economic benefit from the 
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prepayment in the form of reduced cash outflows in future years in which MFR payments would 

otherwise be required. The amendments to IFRIC 14 are not relevant to the Company’s financial 

statements as the Company does not have any defined benefit plans with minimum funding requirement. 

• IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 July 2010). The Interpretation clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor 

to extinguish all or part of a financial liability in a ‘debt for equity swap’ are consideration paid in 

accordance with IAS 39.41. The initial measurement of equity instruments issued to extinguish a 

financial liability is at the fair value of those equity instruments, unless that fair value cannot be reliably 

measured, in which case the equity instrument should be measured to reflect the fair value of the 

financial liability extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or 

part of the financial liability) extinguished and the initial measurement amount of equity instruments 

issued should be recognized in profit or loss. The Company did not issue equity to extinguish any 

financial liability during the current period. Therefore, the Interpretation has no impact on the 

comparative amounts in the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011. 

Further, since the Interpretation can relate only to transactions that will occur in the future, it is not 

possible to determine in advance the effects the application of the Interpretation will have. 

• Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues (effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010). The amendment requires that rights, options 

or warrants to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount of any 

currency are equity instruments if the entity offers the rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its 

existing owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments. The amendments to IAS 

32 are not relevant to the Company’s financial statements as the Company has not issued such 

instruments at any time in the past. 

3.2 Foreign currency 

Foreign exchange transactions are translated to the functional currency of the respective entity in accordance 

with the exchange rate set by the Central Bank of the country of operation on the date of the respective 

transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities, including commitments and contingencies denominated in 

foreign currencies are retranslated into functional currency in accordance with the exchange rate set by the 

respective Central Banks on the last date of the reporting period. Non monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currency that are measured at fair value or cost are translated at the exchange rate as 

at the date fair value or cost was determined. 

Foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 

EUR 0.702804 0.702804 

USD 0.544 0.535 

EEK - 0.0449 

LTL 0.204 0.2040 

PLN 0.160 0.176 

RUB 0.017 0.0176 

Profit or loss relating to fluctuations in the exchange rate on assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign 

currency are recognised as profit or loss in the period in which the fluctuation occurs. The assets and 

liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are 

translated to the presentation currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The income and expenses of 

foreign operations are translated to presentation currency at exchange rates that approximate those on the 

date of the transactions. Differences arising on translation to presentation currency are recognized in other 

comprehensive income. Branch transactions are conducted in Euro or currencies pegged to the euro or with 

insignificunt movement from Euro ,  therefore no translation difference arises on foreign entity accounting. 
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3.3 Insurance contracts 

(a) Classification of insurance contracts 

An insurance contract signed by the insurer is classified as an insurance contract only if it transfers a 

significant insurance risk from the policy holder to the insurer. All contracts concluded are classified as non-

life insurance contracts and the Company does not conclude any investment contracts. 

Non-life insurance contracts include the following contracts:  

- in which the insurer assumes substantial insurance risk on behalf of the other contracting party – 

the policy holder, by agreeing to compensate losses to the policy holders if a certain unexpected 

future event (insured occurrence) has been previously agreed, which adversely impact the policy 

holder. An unexpected future event is considered to be a situation when at the time of signing the 

insurance contract is not known: 

1. whether the insured occurrence will occur; 

2. when it will occur; 

3. how much the insurer will have to pay if it occurs. 

- in which the insured event is the discovery of a loss during the term of the contract, even if the 

loss arises from an event that occurred before the inception of the contract 

- in which the insured event is an event that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the 

resulting loss is discovered after the end of the contract term. 

- which comprise events, which have already occurred, but whose financial impact is not yet fixed. 

For example, reinsurance contracts that protect direct insurance from the adverse development of 

claims already reported by the policy holder. 

- which require or permit payment in kind, i.e., the insurer directly replaces a stolen thing rather 

than compensates the claim to the policy holder in money. 

- which stipulate a fixed charge services, in which the service level depends on an unexpected 

event. Fixed charge services are based on the number of expected equipment malfunctions, but it 

cannot be fixed on whether some specific equipment will not function. 

- in which one insurer (reinsurer) compensates the losses of one or several contracts closed with 

other insurers (cedents). 

Recognition and evaluation of insurance contracts 

A contract, which is deemed to be an insurance contract, remains an insurance contract, until all rights and 

liabilities are paid off or their validity period has expired. A contract, if in form and substance an insurance 

contract, may not be requalified to another contract.  

When classifying insurance contracts for accounting purposes, the basis is the substance of transfer of 

insurance risk and common signs of possible risk. For example: 

- insurance of persons against personal accidents  

- travel insurance 

- insurance against property damage or thefts 

- motor vehicle insurance 

- general third party liability (TPL) insurance 

Each of these contract groups may be divided in more detail by taking into account the substance of the 

transferred insurance risk. 

(b) Insurance premium and premium income 

Written premiums include the amounts, which are due for the insurance contracts signed during the reporting 

year, that have come into force in the reporting year irrespective whether these premiums have been received 

or not. Premiums written are decreased by premiums cancelled during the reporting period. Premiums are 

disclosed gross of commission payable to intermediaries and exclude taxes and levies based on premiums.  

The earned portion of premiums received is recognised as revenue. Premiums are recognised as earned on 

pro-rata basis over the term of the related policy coverage and are reported as earned premiums.  

The unearned portion of premiums is recognised as a technical reserve.  
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Outward reinsurance premiums are recognised as an expense in accordance with the pattern of reinsurance 

service received and the portion of reinsurance expenses attributable for future periods are recognised as 

assets under the reinsurance part of the unearned premium reserve.  

Premium refunds 

Premium refunds represent a proportion of premium that becomes contractually refundable to policy holders 

in the event that no claims are made under the respective insurance contract.  

(c) Unearned premium and unexpired risk reserves 

Unearned premium reserves (UPR) 

Unearned premium reserves represent the proportion of premiums written which relate to the period of risk 

subsequent to the reporting year. Reserves are calculated for each insurance policy under the 365- day Pro 

Rata Temporis method based on the period in force for a particular policy. 

Unexpired risk reserve (URR) 

Unexpired risk reserve (URR) is set aside for unexpired risks arising from general insurance contracts where 

the expected value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods of policies in force at the 

reporting period end date exceeds the unearned premiums reserve in relation to such policies. 

On each reporting date, the company prepares a Liability adequacy test by assessing whether the insurance 

liabilities recognized during the reporting year for valid policies are adequate by comparing the insurance 

reserves established to the present value of the estimated future cash flows arising on existing insurance 

policies. 

If the liability adequacy test shows a deficiency in the carrying amount of liabilities, the deficiency is 

recognised as a loss for the financial year by setting additional unexpired risk reserve. The test is performed 

by lines of business  and test is applied to the gross amounts of reserves, i.e., the effect of reinsurance is not 

taken into account.  

(d) Claims incurred 

Claims incurred from insurance activities are claims attributable to the reporting period and consist of claims 

paid in the financial year, the corresponding claim handling expenses (loss adjustment expenses) and 

changes in the claim reserves. Claims paid are decreased by the amount of losses recoverable through 

cession, sales of salvage, or subrogation. Recovered losses are recognised on a cash basis when they are 

recovered. 

(e) Outstanding claim technical reserves 

An outstanding claim technical reserve comprise reserves for the Company’s estimate of the ultimate cost of 

settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the period end date whether reported or not, and the related internal 

and external claims handling expenses. Reserves for non-life claims outstanding are not discounted, with the 

exception of annuities which may arise from third part liability insurance. 

Reported but not settled claims reserve (RBNS) 

The RBNS claims reserve is calculated on a case-by-case basis by the Company’s loss adjusters for claims 

reported and not yet settled (including loss adjustment expenses) as at the reporting date. 

Incurred but not reported claims reserve (IBNR) 

IBNR is calculated in respect of claims incurred but not reported prior to the end of the reporting period.  

The IBNR reserve is calculated using statistical methods (triangulation, coefficient methods or modifications 

thereof) for the following lines of insurance: 

� motor own damage insurance; 

� property insurance (fire risks);  

� property insurance (other risks);  

� personal accident insurance; 

� travel accident insurance;  

� general third party liability; 

� cargo insurance;  
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� various financial risks; 

� health insurance 

A combined triangulation and loss rate method was used in the calculation of the IBNR reserve for motor 

compulsory third party liability. 

Where available statistics are considered to be insufficient, IBNR reserve is calculated as a percentage of 

premiums (5-10%) written in last 12 months for the following lines of business: 

� marine insurance;  

� voluntary motor third party liability insurance;  

� marine third party liability insurance; 

� guarantees; 

� railway insurance; 

� aircraft insurance; 

� aircraft third party liability insurance;  

� credit risk insurance. 

(f) Equalisation reserve 

An equalisation reserve is established in order to seek to equalise future loss ratio in an insurance line where 

the loss ratio may be significantly different from year to year, as a result of future claims. Equalisation 

reserve is not recognised as liability, but  those  segregated amounts are classified as a component of the 

Company’s equity.  

(g) Reinsurance 

Assumed reinsurance 

An assumed reinsurance contract is a type of insurance contract where the insurance risk is assumed from 

another insurer. Consequently, all references to insurance contracts refer also to reinsurance assumed. 

Ceded reinsurance 

The Company cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the purpose of limiting its potential net 

loss through the diversification of its risks. Assets, liabilities and income and expense arising from ceded 

reinsurance contracts are presented separately from the related assets, liabilities, income and expense from 

the related insurance contracts because the reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Company from its 

direct obligations to its policyholders. 

Reinsurance assets include the recoveries due from reinsurance companies in respect of claims paid and the 

reinsurance share in the technical insurance reserves.  

The reinsurance share of the incurred but not reported claims technical provision in the case of non-

proportional or proportional facultative reinsurance contracts are not recognised for ceded reinsurance 

contracts as the reinsurance asset cannot be reliably measured. 

Reinsurance commissions and profit participations include commissions received or receivable from 

reinsurers and profit participations based on the reinsurance contracts. Non-life reinsurance commissions are 

deferred in a manner consistent with the deferral of acquisition costs in non-life insurance.  

(h) Client acquisition costs 

Client acquisition costs include commissions paid to intermediaries and other expenses related to the 

acquisition of insurance policies. 

Deferred client acquisition costs, primarily consisting of intermediary commissions are deferred to the extent 

that they are recoverable out of future premiums and are recognised as expenses over the life of the insurance 

policies. 
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(i) Allocation of administration expenses among cost centres and insurance types 

The allocation of administrative expenses to claims costs, client acquisition costs and investment costs is 

based on the expenses incurred in different cost centres. 

Administration expenses, which are not directly referred to in a specific type of insurance, are distributed 

among types of insurance in proportion to the volume of the premiums written. 

(j) Liability adequacy test 

Management assesses at each reporting date the adequacy of its recognised insurance liabilities using current 

estimates of future cash flows arising from its insurance contracts, and comparing those estimated future 

cash flows against the carrying amount of liabilities after the deduction of the deferred acquisition costs.  

If the liability adequacy test shows a deficiency in the carrying amount of liabilities, the deficiency is 

recognised as a loss for the financial year by setting aside additional unexpired risk reserves. 

The liability adequacy test is applied by lines of business to the gross amounts of reserves, i.e. the effect of 

reinsurance is not taken into account. 

(k) Insurance receivables and payables 

Amounts due to and from policyholders, agents and reinsurers are financial instruments and are included in 

insurance receivables and payables, and not in insurance contract provisions or reinsurance assets. 

3.4 Financial instruments 

(a) Classification  

At inception, all financial instruments are classified into one of the following categories:  

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets or liabilities that are acquired 

or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term; or that are part of a 

portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a 

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or that are a derivative (except for a derivative that is a 

designated and effective hedging instrument); or that are upon initial recognition, designated by the entity as 

at fair value through the profit or loss. These include groups of financial assets designated at fair value 

through profit and loss which are managed and performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance 

with the Company’s documented investment strategy and information about the Company internally on that 

basis is provided to key management personnel. 

Available-for-sale assets are financial assets classified at inception as available for sale or assets other than 

classified as held for trading, held to maturity or loans and receivables. Available for sale instruments 

include short term investments and certain debt and equity securities. Generally, this category is assigned by 

the Company to financial assets that are held for an indeterminate period of time and may be sold based on 

liquidity or interest rate needs, or as a result of changes in exchange rates and share prices.  

Held-to-maturity financial instruments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and a fixed maturity with respect to which the Company has a positive intent and ability to hold to 

maturity. The Company did not classify any financial instruments to this category in 2011 (2010: nil).   

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables include loans, term deposits with banks and debtors in the 

statement of financial position. Insurance receivables are classified in this category.  

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost represent financial liabilities of the Company other than 

financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss. This category includes due to creditors 

balances.  

Derivative financial instruments 

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and interest 

rate risks arising from operational, financing and investment activities. In accordance with its treasury policy, 

the Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.  
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Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the statement of financial position at their fair 

value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices or discounted cash flow models as appropriate. All 

derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when negative. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in net gains and losses on financial instruments 

designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Company has no embedded derivatives in its insurance contracts as at 31 December 2011 and 2010. 

(b) Recognition and derecognition 

Financial instruments are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual rights of the 

instrument. All regular way purchase and sales of financial assets are recognised in the statement of financial 

position on the transaction date representing the date when the financial asset is delivered. In the period 

between the dates of transaction and settlement, the Company accounts for the changes in the fair value of 

the received or transferred asset based on the same principles used for any other acquired asset of the 

respective category. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired 

or where the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities 

are derecognised when they are extinguished – that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or 

expires.    

(c) Initial and subsequent measurement   

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value and except for financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss include directly attributable transaction costs.  

Subsequent to initial measurement, all financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or 

loss and all available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value except those instruments for which 

no reliable fair value measurement is possible. In this case, such instruments are carried at cost less 

transaction expenses and impairment.  

All financial liabilities other than financial liabilities designated through profit or loss, all loans and 

receivables, deposits with banks and held to maturity assets are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest rate method.  

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the 

Company estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but not 

future credit losses.  

All instruments are subject to revaluation when impaired. Short term receivables and payables are not 

discounted. 

Profit or loss arising from changes to the fair value of financial instruments designated through profit or loss 

is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Differences arising from changes to the fair value 

of available for sale financial instruments are recognised through other comprehensive income, except of 

impairment which is recognised in statement of comprehensive income.  

(d) Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

The fair value of financial instruments that have a quoted market price in an active market is determined 

based on the quoted price on the reporting date or the last working date of the respective market. Where 

reference to an active market for a financial instrument is not possible, discounted cash flows techniques are 

used or other measurement models available in the respective market provided if the use of such models may 

ensure a reliable estimate of the fair value. 

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s 

best estimate and the discount rate is a market rate related to the reporting period end date for a financial 

instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where a pricing model is used, inputs are based on market 

related measures at the reporting period end date. 
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The fair value of non-exchange-traded derivatives is estimated at the amount that the Company would 

receive or pay to terminate the contract at the reporting period end date taking into account the current 

market conditions and the current creditworthiness of the counterparties. 

Fair value for all financial instruments carried at fair value was measured based on market price.  

The fair value of loans and receivables and also that of term deposits is estimated as the present value of 

future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest as at the reporting date. This fair value is 

determined for disclosure purposes. 

Fair value of financial liabilities, which is also determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the 

present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest as at the 

reporting date. 

3.5 Impairment  

(a) Financial assets 

At each reporting period end date the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that the 

financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. Financial assets are impaired 

when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, 

and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset that can be estimated reliably. 

The Company considers evidence of impairment at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually 

significant financial assets are individually assessed for impairment. All individually significant assets which 

are not assessed as impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not 

yet identified at the reporting period end date. 

Insurance receivables that are overdue are reversed against premium income once the policy is cancelled. No 

impairment allowances are recognised in respect of amounts that have not yet become due if no portion of 

the premium is taken to income.  

Other debtors are stated at the recoverable amount. Impairment allowances are recognised on doubtful 

receivables. 

(b) Non financial assets 

Non financial assets, other than deferred taxes and deferred acquisition costs, are assessed at each reporting 

date for any indications of impairment. In the presence of such evidence, the Company estimates the 

recoverable amount of the related asset. The recoverable amount of non financial assets is the greater of their 

fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows 

largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or its 

cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 

All impairment losses in respect of non financial assets are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income and reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 

amount. Any impairment loss reversed is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 

impairment loss had been recognised.   
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3.6 Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are disclosed at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Depreciation is 

calculated using a linear method over the entire useful life of the respective asset in order to write their value 

down to the residual value at the end of the useful life based on the following rates: 

Office equipment 20% per year 

Computers, electrical equipment 35% per year 

Vehicles 20% per year 

Buildings for own use 5% per year 

Land and buildings used for the Company’s operating activities are initially stated at cost less depreciation. 

Subsequently buildings for own use are carried at a revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of 

revaluation  less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 

Land is not depreciated and is carried at a revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less 

any subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The increase of value resulting from revaluation is 

recognised under “Revaluation reserve” in other comprehensive income. Valuations are carried out by 

independent valuers. 

If the fair value of land and buildings used for operating activities at the reporting period end date is lower 

than their book value, they are re-measured at the lower value. The decrease of value resulting from 

revaluation is first used to reverse the revaluation reserve of the same asset previously recognised in 

“Revaluation reserve” and only if in excess of it, the revaluation decrease is recognized in profit or loss. 

Maintenance costs of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Costs of 

capital repairs of property and equipment (leasehold improvements) are added to the value of the respective 

asset and written off over the useful lifetime of the asset. Capital repair costs on leased property, plant and 

equipment are written off on a straight line basis during the shorter of the useful lifetime of the capital repairs 

and the period of lease. 

Profit or loss from disposal of property and equipment is calculated as the difference between the book value 

of the asset and income generated from sale, and reflected as profit or loss in the comprehensive income 

statement when disposed.  

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually. 

3.7 Intangible assets 

Software licences 

Software licences are capitalised. Software licences are recorded at cost including acquisition and 

implementation costs less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is calculated using the 

linear method over the entire useful life of the respective asset in order to write their value down to the 

estimated residual value at the end of the useful life based on a 20% per year rate.  

3.8 Investment property 

Land and buildings held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both are classified as 

investment property and are measured at fair value, with any change therein recognised as profit or loss in 

the comprehensive income statement.  

The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount at which a property could be 

exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller in an arm’s length transaction 

after proper marketing. An external independent valuation expert, having a recognised professional 

qualification and experience, values each investment property in order to reflect market conditions at the 

reporting period end date.  

Transfers to or from investment property are made when there is a change in use.  

When an item of land and buildings is transferred to investment property following a change in its use, any 

differences arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item immediately prior to 

transfer and its fair value is recognised directly in other comprehensive income if it is a gain. Upon disposal 
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of the item the gain is transferred to retained earnings. Any loss arising in this manner exceeding previously 

recognized reserve is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income immediately. 

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its 

fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost for subsequent accounting. 

3.9 Repossessed assets 

As part of the normal course of business the Company occasionally takes possession of property that 

originally was pledged as security for a loan. When the Company acquires (i.e. gains a full title to) a property 

in this way, the property’s classification follows the nature of its intended use by the Company. When the 

Company is uncertain of its intentions with respect to property that it has repossessed, those properties are 

classified as investment property (for real estate) or other assets.  

Repossessed assets are initially valued at fair value. 

3.10 Leases 

The lease of property and equipment is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee. Title does not have to be transferred. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases. 

The Company as lessor 

Rental income from an investment property leased out under an operating lease is recognised on a straight-

line basis over each lease term.  

The Company as lessee 

Operating lease payments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. Discounts received are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as a 

significant part of the total lease expenses.  

3.11 Corporate income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss 

except to the extent it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case it is 

recognised in other comprehensive income.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.  

Deferred tax is recognised providing for temporary differences between the carrying value of assets and 

liabilities in the financial statements (financial reporting purposes) and the amounts used for tax purposes. 

These differences have mainly occurred from the different depreciation rates of property and equipment 

applied, which are used for tax accounting and financial accounting and provisions made.  

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 

reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 

and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 

tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 

liabilities will be realised simultaneously.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 

and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.  
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3.12 Cash and cash equivalents 

In the cash flow statement cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, demand deposits, overnight 

deposits and term deposits with banks with the initial maturity term less than three months. In the cash flow 

statement, cash flows are presented using the direct method. 

3.13  Dividends  

Dividends are reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings in the period in which they are declared.  

3.14 Related parties  

Related parties are defined as shareholders of the Company, members of the Board and the Supervisory 

Council, their close relatives and companies in which board members, council members and senior 

management have a significant influence or control. 

3.15 Employee benefits 

Short term employee benefits, including salaries and social security contributions, bonuses and vacation 

benefits are included in net operating expenses on an accrual basis as the services are provided. The 

Company pays fixed social security contributions to State Social Fund on behalf of its employees during the 

employment period in accordance with local legal requirements and will have no obligations to pay further 

contributions relating to employee services in respect of retired employees. 

3.16 Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation.  

Critical accounting estimates and judgement in applying accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires management 

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Although these estimates are based on management’s best 

knowledge of current events and actions, the actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to the accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period, in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 

or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty: 

Insurance technical reserves 

The nature of the business makes it difficult to predict with certainty the likely outcome of any particular 

claim and the ultimate cost of notified claims. Each notified claim is assessed on a separate, case-by-case 

basis with due regard to the claim circumstances, information available from loss adjusters and the historical 

evidence of the size of similar claims. Case estimates are reviewed regularly and are updated as and when 

new information arises. The provisions are based on information currently available. However, the ultimate 

liabilities may vary as a result of subsequent developments. The reserve estimation difficulties also differ by 

class of business due to claim complexity, the volume of claims and the individual severity of claims, 

determining the occurrence date of a claim, and reporting lags.   

The most judgemental estimation is related to incurred-but-not-reported reserves (“IBNR”). The key 

assumptions in respect of sufficiency of insurance technical reserves are monitored regularly through claims 

reserves run-off analyses and liability adequacy testing, performed for each line of business. 

Valuation of financial instruments 

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market 

price requires the use of valuation techniques as described above. For financial instruments that trade 

infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of 

judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and 
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other risks affecting the specific instrument.  As a result, the Company evaluates such instruments at cost less 

impairment.  

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. Financial assets are 

measured by reference to published quotes in an active market. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted 

in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, 

industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring 

market transactions on an arm’s length basis. Main asset classes included in this category are financial assets 

for which the fair value is obtained via pricing vendors or binding broker quotes and assets for which the fair 

value is determined by reference to indices: 

 2011 2010 

 

Published price 

quotations 

Published price 

quotations 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Financial assets 61 895 25 724 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss   

Shares and other non-fixed income securities 5 028 3 195 

Debt securities and other fixed income securities 56 867 22 529 

Available-for-sale investments are carried at cost, refer to note 30. 

Impairment of financial investments 

The determination of impairment indication is based on comparison of the financial instrument’s carrying 

value and fair value. Due to frequent volatility of and relative illiquidity in the financial and capital markets, 

the market price is not always a reliable source for impairment indication. The Company uses valuation 

models based on quoted market prices of similar products. 

For the purposes of impairment loss measurement, the Company’s management makes estimates of any 

expected changes in future cash flows from a specific financial instrument based on analysis of financial 

position of the issuer of the financial instrument. 

Valuation of investment property and buildings for own use 

Investment property is stated at its fair value with all changes in fair value recorded in the statement of 

comprehensive income.  

Buildings used for the Company’s operating activities are carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value at 

the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 

impairment losses. Revaluation result is attributed to other comprehensive income unless impairment should 

be recognised.  

When measuring the fair value of the investment property and buildings for own use, the management relies 

on external valuations, but critically assesses the reliability of such valuations in light of the current market 

situation. 

Impairment of loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables, or those amounts that are overdue, or for which there are indications of impairment 

are assessed for objective evidence of impairment individually. The Company assesses probability of the 

debtor fulfilling its obligations in the future and timing of fulfilment of those obligations, to be able to assess 

recoverable amount of the assets. 

Loans and receivables for which no individual impairment loss is measured are assessed on collective level 

using statistical modelling of historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the 

amount of loss incurred. These are then adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current 

economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested 

by historical modelling. Default rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly 

benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate. They will, however, always 

include uncertainty and may change depending on financial position of customers or general economic 

environment. 
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Deferred tax asset recognition 

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences and available tax losses can be utilised. 
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(4) Risk and risk management 

4.1 Risk and risk management 

The business of insurance represents the transfer of risk from the policy holder to the insurer and 

management of this risk. The largest risks result from accepting insurance risk, choosing the reinsurance 

cover and fulfilling obligations with respect to signed insurance contracts. In addition, the insurer is also 

exposed to investment risks incurred when the insurer has to cover technical reserves with assets invested in 

various financial instruments, market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. 

The Company’s management has identified risks and developed the management of these risks. Risk 

management is carried out in accordance with the Company’s management decision. 

All risks have been divided by the Company’s management into the following major groups:  

- Insurance risks 

- Financial risks 

- Operating risks 

Each of these groups is divided into subgroups, which identify the risks that might impact any operating 

direction. Performance plans have been developed for each of the risks, which should be performed in order 

to minimise and avoid the risk occurrence possibility. 

4.2 Insurance risks and risk management  

Insurance risk is the most significant risk faced by the Company in day-to-day activities. 

(a) Underwriting strategy  

The Company’s underwriting strategy seeks diversity to ensure a balanced portfolio and is based on a large 

portfolio of similar risks over a number of years and, as such, it is believed that this reduces the variability of 

the outcome.  

The underwriting strategy is set out in an annual business plan that sets out the classes of business to be 

written and the industry sectors to which the Company is prepared to expose itself. This strategy is cascaded 

down to individual underwriters through detailed underwriting authorities that set out the limits that any one 

underwriter can write by line size, class of business and industry in order to enforce appropriate risk 

selection within the portfolio. The term of non-life contracts may be up to 3 years; however, contracts are 

usually annual in nature and the underwriters have the right to refuse prolongation or renewal or to change 

the terms and conditions of the contract at prolongation or renewal.  

The calculation of the tariffs and prices on insurance products reflects current market conditions and covers 

the most probable assumptions necessary for the adjustment of future results, aiming to significantly mitigate 

financial risks.  

Adherence to the underwriting authorities is being monitored by management on an on-going basis.  Those 

transactions requiring special authorisation are subject to the special attention of the Company’s Board of 

Directors. 

(b) Basic product features  

The terms and conditions of insurance contracts that have a material effect on the amount, timing and 

uncertainty of future cash flows arising from insurance contracts are set out below. In addition, the following 

gives an assessment of the Company’s main products and the ways in which it manages the associated risks. 

Casco insurance 

Product features  

The insurance indemnifies for losses which arise from damage to, destruction or loss of vehicle. Several 

additional insurance covers may also be purchased which are related to the insured vehicle. The largest 

losses arise from theft or destruction. 

Management of risks 

The key risks associated with this product are underwriting risk and claims development risk. 
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Casco insurance rates are determined on the basis of the bonus-malus system, which decreases the insurance 

premium upon the absence of losses and increases the insurance premium upon the occurrence of losses. The 

sums insured very rarely exceed LVL 50,000. Insurance premiums are set in line with applicable insurance 

methodology. Motor vehicles are divided into four risk groups with different insurance premiums. Motor 

insurance usually contains a retention element by the policyholder.  

Motor third party liability insurance 

Product features  

This insurance is a compulsory insurance, whose policy conditions and indemnification rules are prescribed 

by the respective regulations on Motor Third Party Liability Insurance. MTPL insurance covers physical 

injury claims and property claims in Latvia as well as claims caused abroad by insured motorists under the 

Green Card system. Most of the motor third party liability insurance indemnities are for property damage and 

lump sum personal injuries, mostly medical treatment costs, and temporary absence from work. However, 

long-term indemnities may also be possible, such as pensions and permanent inability to work which may be 

paid out over a long term  as annuities. 

Even if from previous statistics the claims have been notified promptly and can be settled without delay, the 

situation can change and claims arising from motor third party liability insurance are classified as ‘long-tail’ 

classes where the ultimate claim cost takes longer to determine. 

Management of risks 

The key risks associated with this product are underwriting risk and claims development risk. The Company 

therefore monitors and reacts to changes in the general economic and commercial environment in which it 

operates. For determining the rates of motor third party liability insurance, a bonus-malus system is used 

which reduces the insurance premium upon the absence of losses and increases the insurance premium upon 

the existence of losses  

Health insurance 

Product features  

The health insurance product is offered to companies that purchase health insurance for their employees. 

Health insurance indemnifies against expenses such as doctor visits, hospital expenses medication expenses. 

Management of risks 

The Company monitors and reacts to changes in the prices for medical services, monitors the claim ratios on 

employer’s bases and adjusts prices accordingly each year when renewal takes place. 

Property insurance 

Product features  

Property insurance indemnifies, subject to any specified limits or deductibles, the insured against loss or 

damage to material damage of property and business interruption arising from this damage. The risks 

covered by property insurance include fire risk, pipe leakage explosion, burglary and robbery, and storm risk. 

When insuring real estate assets, liability insurance can also be purchased. 

Business interruption insurance covers lost business profits and fixed costs incurred that arise from the 

realisation of any risk covered by the property insurance of the Company. Upon the sale of that insurance 

type, it is considered to be particularly important to take into account the reliability of the customers and the 

transparency of the financial statements. 

The most frequently occurring risks for property include pipe leakages and fire. Larger losses result most 

often from fire. 

Generally, claims in the property insurance line are notified promptly and can be settled without delay. 

Property business is therefore classified as ‘short-tail’, contrasted with the ‘long-tail’ classes where the 

ultimate claim cost takes longer to determine. 
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Management of risks 

The key risks associated with this product are underwriting risk, and claims development risk.  

To charge premiums appropriate specifics of different properties are assessed. For private property 

insurance, it is expected that there will be large numbers of properties with similar risk profiles. However, 

for commercial business this may not be the case. Many commercial property proposals comprise a unique 

combination of location, type of business, and safety measures in place. Calculating a premium 

commensurate with the risk for these policies will be subjective, and hence risky. 

Property classes are exposed to the risk that the insured will make false or invalid claims, or exaggerate the 

amount claimed following a loss. This largely explains why economic conditions correlate with the 

profitability of the property insurance line of business. Insurance risk is managed primarily through pricing, 

independent assessment of property under international standards, product design, risk selection and 

reinsurance. The Company therefore monitors and reacts to changes in the general economic and commercial 

environment in which it operates.  

(c) Insurance risk concentration 

Within the insurance process, concentrations of risk may arise where a particular event or series of events 

could impact heavily upon the Company’s liabilities. Such concentrations may arise from a single insurance 

contract or through a small number of related contracts, and relate to circumstances where significant 

liabilities could arise. 

Risk concentration may occur as a result of different coincidences and regularities. Most often risk 

concentration is observed in a specific type of insurance in which private persons are insured; e.g. personal 

accident insurance when a group of persons suffers from a personal accident and all of these persons have 

been insured in the Company. In property insurance, risk concentration might occur if one densely populated 

area experiences any of the exposures (e.g. fire), which may easily transfer from one property to another one 

and this action cannot be avoided.  

In addition, the management is aware that the possible risk concentration can be in one company or an 

industry in total, for which several risks are insured. When insuring such risks, an obligatory precondition is 

the assessment of the company’s financial position and capacity, as well as identifying how large financial 

liabilities can arise, how large the liabilities are that are already held by the Company and what it can afford. 

When evaluating financial risks, the trends of economic growth and the risks that might impact this area are 

studied.  

In order to minimise losses that might be incurred in case of a risk concentration, the Company uses 

reinsurance – by reinsuring both proportionally, as well as non-proportionally. When placing reinsurance, the 

Company’s share in the risk is fixed both for one object, as well as for one event, in which losses may be 

caused simultaneously for several objects. Such risks are reinsured in practically all types of insurance. The 

reinsurance policy, to which the Company adheres, has been approved by the Board. 

The Company’s key methods in managing these risks are two-fold. Firstly, the risk is managed through 

appropriate underwriting. Underwriters are not permitted to underwrite risks unless the expected profits are 

commensurate with the risks assumed. Secondly, the risk is managed through the use of reinsurance. The 

Company purchases reinsurance coverage for various classes of its liability and property business. The 

Company assesses the costs and benefits associated with the reinsurance programme on an ongoing basis. 

The Company sets out the total aggregate exposure that it is prepared to accept in relation to the 

concentrations of risk. It monitors these exposures both at the time of underwriting a risk, and on a monthly 

basis by reviewing reports which show the key aggregations to which the Company is exposed. The 

Company uses a number of modelling tools to monitor aggregation in order to measure the effectiveness of 

the reinsurance programmes and the net exposure to which the Company is exposed.    
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Exposure to various business lines and the key concentrations identified are: 

2011 

 

Insurance type 

Total insured 

amount 

LVL’000 

Reinsurance 

amount  

LVL’000 

Net retention 

(after 

reinsurance) 

LVL’000 

Number of 

contracts in 

force 

Average 

amount 

insured 

LVL’000 

Motor own damage insurance 594 773 49 708 545 065 60 841 9 

Compulsory motor third party liability in 

other EU countries  - - - 390 187 - 

Health insurance * 165 377 - 165 377 31 211 5 

Property insurance*   12 944 221 6 853 357 6 090 864 89 147 68 

Various financial risks 180 251 99 224 81 027 3 728 22 

Cargo insurance * 87 815 49 139 38 676 195 198 

General third party liability 2 089 278 1 063 183 1 026 095 21 852 47 

Personal accident insurance * 1 985 962 701 696 1 284 266 143 455 9 

Travel accident insurance  713 566 103 016 610 550 45 189 14 

Marine insurance 32 011 27 564 4 447 101 44 

Marine third party liability insurance 11 602 8 970 2 632 30 88 

Railway insurance * 205 805 190 564 15 241 47 324 

Compulsory motor third party liability in 

Latvia ** - - - 132 694 - 

Aircraft third party liability insurance 2 153 082 2 140 335 12 747 105 121 

Aircraft insurance 11 665 8 550 3 115 47 66 

Credit insurance 8 625 4 878 3 747 149 25 

Guarantee insurance 158 383 80 556 77 827 15 416 5  

Legal risks 30 - 30 3 10  

Total 21 342 446 11 380 740 9 961 706 934 397 - 

 

2010 

 

Insurance type 

Total insured 

amount 

LVL’000 

Reinsurance 

amount  

LVL’000 

Net retention  

(after 

reinsurance) 

LVL’000 

Number of 

contracts in 

force 

Average 

amount 

insured 

LVL’000 

Motor own damage insurance 437 392 - 437 392 58 303 8 

Compulsory motor third party liability in 

other EU countries   - -  - 118 688 - 

Health insurance * 110 500 - 110 500 1 455 76 

Property insurance*   7 650 420 3 454 123 4 196 297 55 544 76 

Various financial risks 165 380 92 379 73 001 4 306 17 

Cargo insurance * 66 955 34 633 32 322 86 376 

General third party liability 496 696 334 370 162 326 7 106 23 

Personal accident insurance * 443 088 53 488 389 600 33 383 12 

Travel accident insurance  543 673 213 835 329 838 38 690 9 

Marine insurance 20 458 18 412 2 046 79 26 

Marine third party liability insurance 4 019 3 618 401 18 22 

Railway insurance * 162 430 153 592 8 838 36 246 

Compulsory motor third party liability ** - - - 165 867 - 

Aircraft third party liability insurance 687 990 662 428 25 562 57 448 

Aircraft insurance 7 662 6 690 972 34 29 

Credit insurance 8 133 4 586 3 547 139 26 

Guarantee insurance 21 468 11 827 9 641 280 34 

Legal risks 60  60 3 20 

Total 10 828 174 5 043 981 5 784 193 484 074 - 

* in one contract several objects/ persons can be covered 

** gross insurance risk is unlimited. Losses in excess of EUR400,000 are covered by reinsurance. 
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(d) Catastrophes 

The Company’s management is aware that catastrophe risks are possible. In the Company’s geographic 

position these risks are mostly connected with meteorological phenomena: storms, floods, nature disasters 

(hail, snow, ice, etc.). Large fires and earthquakes are unlikely, but they may occur. The most characteristic 

catastrophes are floods and storms. In order to minimise the impact of catastrophe risk on the Company, 

reinsurance is arranged. Reinsurance is arranged both proportionally and non-proportionally. In addition, 

facultative reinsurance is purchased for large risks. The Company has developed methodology for fixing 

retention. It depends on many factors and the historical statistical information in each product group. 

According to management, the measures taken sufficiently reduce the impact of catastrophe risk on the 

Company. 

(e) Insurance risk management 

In order to manage insurance risk, the Company has developed different control and management 

mechanisms. For all insurance types, insurance terms and conditions have been developed, which are binding 

both for the Company, as well as for the customers. Methodologies have been developed for all insurance 

types, which should be followed when assessing and accepting the risk assumed by the Company. The 

Company has established a Risk Underwriting Institution, in which there are employees who are responsible 

for development of a specific insurance type, insurance terms and conditions and risk assessment methods. In 

addition, limits have been fixed, up to which each of the employees is allowed to make a decision about risk 

underwriting. When fixing limits, the hierarchy principle is observed; the higher the level of responsibility, 

the higher risk may be underwritten. 

Irrespective of the steps detailed above and risks being managed, the Company’s management is aware that 

there is a risk that the insurance risk might not be qualitatively assessed and an incorrect decision may be 

made. In addition, there is a risk that the insurance indemnity will be insufficient for the losses caused or the 

claims case will be administered for an extended amount of time.  

In order to minimise such risks, the Company has developed and uses the quality management system, which 

describes all processes and order that are carried out during the insurance administration process and the 

claims regulation procedures. It has been identified when and in what circumstances certain types of 

procedures should be observed. Quality measurements can be carried out in any process and identify whether 

this process is being carried out in accordance with the Company’s interests and described procedures. The 

measurements of these processes are the responsibility of the Quality Management Department, which 

regularly provides information to the Company’s management about the process management in the 

Company. As a result of these measurements, the management can make an adequate decision to minimise 

the risk that is connected with the insurance processes. 

(f) Liability adequacy test 

The Company has assessed its insurance liabilities shown in the statement of financial position on 31 

December 2011 by a liability adequacy test (“LAT”). 

A liability adequacy test is carried out by lines of business at each reporting date and assesses whether 

recognised insurance liabilities less deferred acquisition costs are adequate using current estimates of future 

cash flows under its insurance contracts. Current estimates of future cash flows are best estimates without 

risk margin. If the assessment indicates liabilities are inadequate in the light of the established future cash 

flow, the deficiency is recognised in profit or loss. Expected cash flows relating to claims and expenses are 

estimated by reference to the experience, adjusted for significant individual losses which are not expected to 

recur.  

The test is performed by lines of business each comprising a group of insurance contracts with similar risk 

profiles.  

LAT results calculated by the Company are based on an aggregated basis (i.e. for the whole portfolio). URR, 

on the other hand, is created based on liability adequacy testing for individual lines of business. As a result, 

URR is created even if the above aggregate LAT result is a surplus. Refer to Note 7 for further details.  
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(g) Claims development 

Information on the claims development has been provided in order to illustrate the insurance risk to which 

the Company is subject. The claim table discloses a comparison of cumulative payments to date and the 

development of technical reserves made for these insurance claims by accident year. 

Excesses or deficits indicated in each column should be evaluated separately by ignoring other columns 

because such corrections made in the prior years may be included as part of the corrections made during the 

prior years.  

The recalculated technical reserves and the cumulative deficit or excess, which is indicated in the enclosed 

table, may subsequently vary due to changes in different factors. 

Although the information provided in the table reflects the estimates of historical unpaid claims made in the 

prior years, the users of these financial statements should avoid extrapolation of past remains or deficits in 

respect to the balance of unpaid losses of this period.  

Claims development analysis, LVL’000 

  Year of insurance event occurrence 

 
2005 and 

before  2006  2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total 
Estimate of cumulative 

claims at end of accident 

year 28 481 22 562 38 518 39 723 33 563 32 021 50 816* 50 816 

- one year later 25 695 22 027 35 201 39 051 31 883 38 794*  38 794 

- two years later 25 423 22 200 35 955 39 750 34 916*   34 916 

- three years later 25 629 22 829 35 670 41 253*    41 253 

- four years later 27 011 22 771 37 828*     37 828 

- five years later 26 775 23 871*      23 871 

- six years later 27 110*       27 110 

Cumulative payments to 

date 25 695 22 363 33 095 37 717 30 990 30 689 27 722 208 271 

Outstanding claims 

reserves at 31.12.2011 1 415 1 508 4 733 3 536 3 926 8 105 23 094 46 317 

*) In 2011 gross claim paymentsand gross outstanding  claims reserves as at 31 December 2011 include insurance 

liabilities assumed from its subsidiary UAB BTA Draudimas when merged into the Company as a result of 

reorganization  

(h) Sensitivity analysis assumption made for general business 

Process used to assess the assumptions  

The process used to undertake sensitivity analysis on the assumptions used is intended to result in neutral 

estimates of the most likely or expected outcome. The sources of data used as inputs for the assumptions are 

internal, using detailed studies that are carried out annually. The assumptions are checked to ensure that they 

are consistent with inflation rates observable in markets or other published information. There is more 

emphasis on current trends, and where in early years there is insufficient information to make a reliable best 

estimate of claims development, prudent assumptions are used.  

The estimated amount of IBNR could be influenced by inflation, the risk that significantly large claims will 

be reported with delay, seasonality of the reporting of claims and other risks.  

Seventy-seven per cent of IBNR as at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: 62%) consists of the 

following lines of business: compulsory motor TPL, guarantees and property (fire and catastrophes) 

insurance. Considering the current market situation, the Company believes that the most volatile assumption 

is inflation. The table below presents the change in IBNR as at 31 December 2011 in the case if the annual 

inflation used in the IBNR estimation would change as a result of a 3% change in inflation. 
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2011 

LVL’000 

 

Line of business 

IBNR, as at 

31.12.2011 

IBNR if projected annual 

inflation increased by 3% 

IBNR without annual 

inflation  

Compulsory motor TPL 8 936 9 459 8 609 

Property (fire and catastrophes) 619 639 607 

 

2010 

LVL’000 

 

Line of business 

IBNR, as at 

31.12.2010 

IBNR if projected annual 

inflation increased by 3% 

IBNR without annual 

inflation  

Compulsory motor TPL 6 393 6 888 6 087 

Property (fire and catastrophes) 435 461 418 

    

The main assumption used in the calculation of technical reserves is a stable claims statistic. Management 

expect that development of claims in the future will have the same pattern as in the past. Reserves are not 

discounted.  

The nature of the business makes it very difficult to predict with certainty the likely outcome of any 

particular claim and the ultimate cost of notified claims. Each notified claim is assessed on a separate case by 

case basis, with due regard to the claim circumstances, information available to loss adjusters and the 

historical evidence of the size of similar claims. Case estimates are reviewed regularly and are updated as 

and when new information arises. The provisions are based on the information currently available. However, 

the ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of subsequent developments or if catastrophic events occur. The 

impact of many of the items affecting the ultimate costs of the loss is difficult to estimate. The provision 

estimation difficulties also differ by class of business due to differences in the underlying insurance contract, 

claim complexity, the volume of claims and the individual severity of claims, determining the occurrence 

date of a claim, and reporting lags.  

For most of the risks, the costs of outstanding IBNR reserves are estimated using a range of statistical 

methods such as the Chain Ladder methods. Such methods extrapolate the development of paid and incurred 

claims, average cost per claims and ultimate claim numbers for each accident year based upon observed 

development of earlier years and expected loss ratios.  

The key methods, which are used and have remained unchanged from prior years, are:  

• chain ladder methods, which use historical data to estimate the paid and incurred to date proportions of 

the ultimate claim cost;  

• development factors methods to evaluate the unknown number of insured events at any given point of 

time; 

• for minor part of portfolio expected loss ratio methods is used, based on the Company’s expectation of 

the loss ratio for a class of business.  

The actual method or blend of methods used varies by line of business and observed historical claims 

development.  

To the extent that these methods use historical claims development information, they assume that the 

historical claims development pattern will occur again in the future. There are reasons why this may not be 

the case, which, insofar as they can be identified, have been allowed for by modifying the methods. Such 

reasons include:  

• changes in processes that affect the development / recording of claims paid and incurred (such as changes 

in claim reserving procedures);  

• economic, legal, political and social trends (resulting in different than expected levels of inflation);  

• changes in mix of business;  

• random fluctuations, including the impact of large losses.  
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Changes in assumptions used for estimation of MTPL claim reserves 

In 2009, State Social Insurance Agency of the Republic of Latvia (“SSIA”) actively started reporting claims to 

insurance companies in order to recover funds previously paid by SSIA from the state budget to persons for bodily 

injuries as a result of traffic accidents. The claims incurred but not reported (the ‘IBNR’) by SSIA impact the 

Company’s IBNR MTPL reserve estimates.  

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, on basis of changes in the available statistics, the Company recognized additional 

IBNR reserves for MTPL bodily injuries that amounted to LVL 2 186 thousand and LVL 1 876 thousand respectively.  

Starting from 2011, IBNR reserves for MTPL bodily injuries are calculated together with other MTPL IBNR reserves. 

The Company’s management is confident that such IBNR calculation for MTPL policies appropriately considers all 

relevant factors, including delayed reporting of SSIA claims and payments of annuities.  

Impact of the abovementioned changes was not calculated.  

4.3  Financial risks and risk management 

The Company is exposed to financial risks due to operations with financial instruments. Financial risks 

include market risk, which includes price, interest rate and currency risks, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Below is a description of each of these financial risks and a summary of the methods used by the Company 

to manage these risks. Exposure to those risks arises in the normal course of the Company’s business.   

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities, including investments, deposits with banks, loans, insurance 

receivables and reinsurance assets, are exposed to financial risk as follows:  

• Market risk: changes to the market situation may adversely impact the insurer’s assets and/or liabilities, 

investments may be impaired, and return on assets decreased. Market risk includes interest rate risk, 

equity price risk and currency risk; 

• Credit risk: failure of a counterparty to fulfil a contractual obligation may cause financial losses to the 

Company, 

• Liquidity risk: under certain adverse conditions for the insurer, the insurer may be forced to sell assets at 

a lower price than their fair value in order to be able to settle liabilities.  

(a) Market risks 

All financial instruments and positions are subject to market risk, the risk that future changes in market 

conditions may make an instrument more or less valuable. The Company is subject to potential investment 

risks by incurring losses from financial assets, financial liabilities, reinsurance and insurance contractual 

liabilities as the result of changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates and changes in price of equity 

instruments. 

In order to restrict investment risk, investments are made in different financial instruments. When choosing 

financial instruments, the requirements of the insurance company and the law on supervision of insurance 

companies are observed.  

When carrying out investing activities, the employees of Financial Department are guided according to the 

approved Investment establishment procedure, which regulates many issues related to control and the 

minimisation of investments risk.  

The reduction of investments risk is carried out in two ways – firstly, by diversifying the investments 

portfolio, and secondly, by analysing the specific asset before the purchase of this asset and following the 

available information on this asset.  

The Company manages market risks by investing most of the investments in markets and investments with 

high ratings. Deposits are mainly invested in Latvian, Lithuanian and Estonian commercial banks that are 

subsidiaries of foreign banks and that do not have separate ratings.   
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Investment analysis by ratings: 
 

2011 Ratings Shares and 

other listed 

equity 

instruments   

Mortgage 

bonds 

Investme

nt funds 

Listed debt 

securities 

Governm

ent bonds  

Available-

for-sale 

investments 

Total 

Agency  LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

         

Fitch A - - - 368 - - 368 

 A- - - - 716 - - 716 

 A+ - - - 1 324 - - 1 324 

 AA  - - - 477 - - 477 

 AA- - - - 1 802 - - 1 802 

 AA - - - 768 - - 768 

 BBB - - - 556 - - 556 

 BBB- - - - 155 6 097 - 6 252 

 BBB+ - - - 1 230 - - 1 230 

Moody's A1 - - - 292 - - 292 

 AAA - - - - 5 951 - 5 951 

 Baa1 -  - 1 075 - - 1 075 

 Baa2 - 1 670 - 372 - - 2 042 

 Aa3 - - - 898 - - 898 

 Baa1  - - - 54 - - 54 

 B1 - - - 110 - - 110 

 Ba1 - - - 121 - - 121 

 Ba3 - - - 215 - - 215 

 Baa3 - - - 213 - - 213 

 C - - - 13 - - 13 

S&P A- - - - - 7 834 - 7 834 

 A+ - - - 167 513 - 680 

 AA - - - 188 - - 188 

 AA- 465 - - 861 336 - 1 660 

 AAA - 350 - 363 11 511 - 12 225 

 BBB - - - - 9 755 - 9 755 

 BBB- - - - 134 123 - 257 

 BBB+ - - - - 144 - 144 

No rating  425 - 4 138 111 - 515 5 189 

Total  890 2 020 4 138 12 583 42 264 515 62 410 



BTA INSURANCE COMPANY SE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

 

38 

 

 
2010 Ratings Shares and 

other listed 

equity 

instruments   

Mortgage 

bonds 

Investme

nt funds 

Listed debt 

securities 

Governm

ent bonds  

Available-for-

sale 

investments 

Total 

Agency  LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Fitch A - - - 175 - - 175 

 A- - - - 274 2 120 - 2 394 

 A+ - - - 943 - - 943 

 A1 - - - - 148 - 148 

 AA - - - 584 - - 584 

 AA- - - - 1 032 - - 1 032 

 AA  - - - 300 - - 300 

 AAA - - - - 3 630 - 3 630 

 BB - - - 462 - - 462 

 BBB - - - 604 - - 604  

 BBB- - - - 161 - - 161 

 BBB+ - - - 593 - - 593 

Moody's A1 - - - 72 - - 72 

 Aa3 - - - 431 - - 431 

 AAA - - - - 1 695 - 1 695 

 Baa1 - - - 552 138 - 690 

 Baa1  - - - 56 - - 56  

 Baa2 - 1 570 - 190 - - 1 760 

 Baa3 - - - - 4 131 - 4 131 

 Baa3 - - - - 1 617 - 1 617 

S&P A+ - - - 75 - - 75 

 AA - - - 188 - - 188 

 AA- 490 - - 681 - - 1 171 

 BBB- - - - - 97 - 97 

No rating  248 - 2 457 10 - 412 3 127 

Total  738 1 570 2 457 7 383 13 576 412 26 136 
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i) Currency risk 

Currency risk: adverse changes to the currency exchange rate may cause loss to the Company. 

Some insurance liabilities are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company’s policy is to restrict the 

currency risk with respect to known and expected transactions in foreign currencies. Currency risk 

management is based on investments in the respective currencies. The local currencies on the Company's 

operational market – Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia are pegged to EUR which decreases currency risk. This 

peg could change as a result of macroeconomic policy. Profit or loss is mainly sensitive only to changes in 

USD rates and is evaluated as low. The Company is not engaged in any speculative transactions that may 

increase the currency risk.  

The Company is gradually increasing the share of EUR denominated investments. As a result of the above 

principle, at the end of 2011 EUR denominated investments covered one third of the technical reserves in 

LVL. Although this policy has an adverse effect on the return on investment, it will be continued in 2012 in 

order to limit the potential impact of any changes in the government policy regarding the currency.  

The Company is not exposed to significant currency risk as the LVL and the Litas are pegged to the Euro 

and changes on these rates are expected only in case country policy is changed. 

The split of financial assets and liabilities and technical reserves by currencies as at year end were as 

follows: 

31 December 2011 

Financial assets LVL EUR USD LTL NOK PLN Other Total 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 
Shares and other non-fixed 

income securities 
- 4 896 132 - - - - 5 028 

Debt securities and other 

fixed income securities 
6 463 33 502 733 8 659 92 7 418 - 56 867 

Available-for-sale financial 

assets 
319 196  - - - - 515 

Deposits with banks 689 9 589 758 414 - 160 44 11 654 

Mortgage loans 2 852 2 035 94 - - - - 4 981 

Other loans 484 863 221 155 - - - 1 723 

Receivables 1 962 2 150 532 4 743 - 1 198 534 11 119 

Cash and cash equivalents 258 970 377 565 - 2 6 2 178 

Total financial assets 13 027 54 201 2 847 14 536 92 8 778 584 94 065 

          

Technical reserves, net         
Technical reserves for 

unearned premiums and 

unexpired risks, net 

9 188 7 306 559 9 210 - 5 824 - 32 087 

Outstanding claim technical 

reserves, net 
11 996 18 645 33 3 544 409 2 384 382 37 393 

Total technical reserves, 

net 
21 184 25 951 592 12 754 409 8 208 382 69 480 

Financial liabilities 414 282 196 6 055 - 233 85 7 265 
Technical reserves, net 

and financial liabilities 
21 598 26 233 788 18 809 409 8 441 467 76 745 

Open currency position (8 571)  27 968 2 059 (4 273) (317) 337 117 17 320 
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31 December 2010 

Financial assets LVL EUR USD EEK PLN Other Total 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 
Shares and other non-fixed income 

securities 

- 2 964 177 54 - - 3 195 

Debt securities and other fixed 

income securities 

6 400 14 187 245 - 1 697 - 22 529 

Available-for-sale financial assets 216 196 - - - - 412 
Deposits with banks 3 057 10 508 403 - 1 812 56 15 836 
Mortgage loans 1 609 931 124 - -  2 664 

Other loans 733 1 985 34 - -  2 752 
Receivables 1 869 2 249 434 718 957 1 463 7 690 
Cash and cash equivalents 264 471 223 133 0 18 1 109 

Total financial assets 14 148 33 491 1 640 905 4 466 1 537  56 187 

         

Technical reserves, net        

Technical reserves for unearned 

premiums and unexpired risks, net 

10 591 3 409 267 2 862 3 810 1 20 940 

Outstanding claim technical 

reserves, net 

14 032 3 304 56 349 413 1 051 19 205 

Total technical reserves, net 24 623 6 713 323 3 211 4 223 1 052 40 145 

Financial liabilities 1 156 367 86 150  176 492 2 427 

Technical reserves, net and 

financial liabilities 
25 779 7 080 409 3 361 4 399 1 544 42 572 

        

Open currency position (11 631) 26 411  1 231 (2 456) 67 (7) 13 615 

 

ii) Price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 

prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting 

all instruments traded in the market. Price risk arises when the Company takes a long or short position in a 

financial instrument.  

An analysis of the sensitivity of the Company’s comprehensive income to changes in securities prices based 

on positions existing as at 31 December 2011 and a simplified scenario of a 5% change in all securities 

prices is as follows: 

  

 2011 2010 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 

5% increase in securities prices  3 114  1 307 

5% decrease in securities prices  (3 114) (1 307) 

iii) Interest rate risk 

Measures for management of the interest rate risk in the Company are based on the assessment of the impact 

of the interest rate risk on the Company's financial indices. The Company does not have significant interest 

bearing liabilities and a significant share of interest bearing assets are at a fixed interest rate.  Therefore, the 

Company is not exposed to a significant interest rate risk and to the effects of fluctuations in interest rates 

resulting from different maturity or interest repricing profile of the Company's interest bearing assets and 

liabilities.  

The following tables present the Company’s financial assets analysed according to repricing periods 

determined as the earlier of the remaining contractual maturity and the contractual repricing. The interest rate 

repricing profile of the Company’s assets as at year end:  
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31 December 2011 

 Within 6 

months 6-12 months 1-2 years 3-5 years 

Over 5 

years 

Non-

interest 

bearing Total 

Amount  

subject to 

fixed rates 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Financial assets        

Investments at fair 

value through profit 

or loss 
4 699 8 320 12 097 25 699 6 516 4 564 61 895 57 331 

Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
- - - - - 515 515 - 

Deposits with banks 5 211 4 380 909 1 154 - - 11 654 11 654 

Loans issued 1 225 496 3 217 1 619 147 - 6 704 6 704 

Receivables - - - - - 11 119 11 119 - 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 
2 164 - - - - 14 2 178 2 164 

Total financial 

assets 
13 299 13 196 16 223 28 472 6 663 16 212 94 065 77 853 

 

31 December 2010 

 Within 6 

months 6-12 months 1-2 years 3-5 years 

Over 5 

years 

Non-

interest 

bearing Total 

Amount  

subject to 

fixed rates 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Financial assets        

Investments at fair 

value through profit 

or loss 

809  2 866 4 115 11 703 3 036 3 195 25 724 22 529 

Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
- - - - - 412 412 - 

Deposits with banks 8 456 5 403 1 280 697 - - 15 836 15 836 

Loans issued 235 1 345 777 1 988  70 1 001 5 416 4 416 

Receivables - - - - - 7 690 7 690 - 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 
1 100 - - - - 9 1 109 1 100 

Total financial 

assets 
10 600 9 614 6 172 14 388 3 106 12 307 56 187 43 881 

 

Average effective interest rates as applicable for selected interest bearing financial instruments were as 

follows: 

 2011 2010 

Bonds 2.67% 4.16% 

Deposits 3.68% 3.58% 

Loans 3.47% 4.20% 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

An analysis of the sensitivity of the net income and total comprehensive income for the year   as a result of 

changes in fair value of financial assets available for sale and fair value through profit or loss due to changes 

in the interest rates based on positions existing as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 and a simplified scenario 

of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical fall or rise in all yield curves is as follows (in LVL thousand): 

 2011 2010 

 

Net income 

Total 

comprehensive 

income Net income 

Total 

comprehensive 

income 

100 bp parallel increase (497) (497) (737) (737) 

100 bp parallel decrease 497 497 737 737 

The above analysis assumes all financial assets are held one year from the reporting period end date.  

(b) Liquidity risks 

In accordance with the approved investment establishment procedure methodology, the employees of 

Financial Department are obligated to ensure that at least 30% of the assets required for the technical reserve 

cover would be placed in high liquidity investments.  

High liquidity investments are deemed to be the following assets:  

1) claims on demand to credit institutions; 

2) other claims to solvent credit institutions (term deposits, etc.) whose remaining repayment term 

does not exceed 30 days, and deposits with another term if the agreement stipulates an option to 

withdraw money before the due date (less the amount of contractual penalty for preterm withdrawal of 

deposits if such is provided); 

3) investments in securities if they have a constant, unrestricted market, i.e., they can be sold in a short 

time without considerable losses or can be used as a collateral for receipt of loan.  

The tables below shows the allocation of the Company’s assets and liabilities to maturity groups based on the 

time remaining from the reporting period end date to the maturity dates or expected dates of settlement. 

While the tables below reflect the liquidity risk, it is based on time to contractual maturity. Investments 

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, are considered as highly liquid financial 

assets and management has the ability to sell them earlier than the contractual date, thereby helping to 

manage its liquidity gap, if needed. 
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31 December 2011 Up to 12 

months 

From 1 to 

5 years 

Over 5 

years 

No fixed 

maturity Total 

 LVL LVL LVL LVL LVL 

Financial assets      

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 13 020 37 796 6 515 4 564 61 895 

Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 515 515 
Deposits with banks 9 591 2 063 - - 11 654 

Loans issued 1 721 4 836 147 - 6 704 

Receivables from direct insurance activities 9 645 - - - 9 645 

Receivables from reinsurance activities 271 - - - 271 

Other receivables 1 203 - - - 1 203 

Cash and cash equivalents 2 178 - - - 2 178 

Total financial assets  taking into account 

maturity 37 629 44 695 6 662 5 079 94 065 

      

Total financial assets taking into account liquidity 86 504 6 899 147 515 94 065 

      

Technical reserves and financial liabilities      

Technical reserves, net 57 865 11 615 - - 69 480 

Financial liabilities 7 265 - - - 7 265 

Total technical reserves and financial liabilities 65 130 11 615 - - 76 745 

Maturity gap  (27 501) 33 080 6 662 5 079 17 320 

Maturity gap taking into account liquidity* 21 374 (4 716) 147 515 17 320 

 

 

31 December 2010 Up to 12 

months 

From 1 to 

5 years 

Over 5 

years 

No fixed 

maturity Total 

 LVL LVL LVL LVL LVL 

Financial assets      

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 3 957 16 026 3 036 2 705 25 724 
Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 412 412 

Deposits with banks 13 859 1 977  - 15 836 

Loans issued 1 580  2 765 70  1 001 5 416 

Receivables from direct insurance activities 6 258 - - - 6 258 

Receivables from reinsurance activities 65 - - - 65 

Other receivables 1 367 - - - 1 367 
Cash and cash equivalents 1 109 - - - 1 109 

Total financial assets  taking into account 

maturity 
28 195 20 768 3 106 4 118 56 187 

      

Total financial assets taking into account 

liquidity 

49 962 4 742 70  1 413 56 187 

      

Technical reserves and financial liabilities      

Technical reserves, net 30 847 9 298 - - 40 145 

Financial liabilities 2 427 - - - 2 427 

Total technical reserves and financial liabilities 33 274 9 298 -  - 42 572 

Maturity gap  (5 079) 11 470 3 106 4 118 13 615 

Maturity gap taking into account liquidity 16 688 (4 556) 70 1 413 13 615 
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(c) Credit risk 

The Company takes on exposure to credit risk which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay 

amounts in full when due. The Company structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on 

the amount of risk accepted in relation to one issuer of securities, debtor, borrower, or group of the above. 

Such risks are monitored regularly. 

Impact from credit crisis, inactive real estate market 

The Company has assessed the possible decrease of value for the collateral of issued loans taking into 

account the current market situation and has established allowances for loan amounts exceeding the value of 

collateral. 

Exposure to credit risk is managed through the regular analysis of the ability of issuers and borrowers and 

potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits 

where appropriate.  

The current market value of collateral, where relevant, is regularly assessed by either independent appraisal 

companies or the Company’s specialists. 

Maximum credit risk 2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 Gross Net Gross Net 
Government bonds 42 264 42 264 13 576 13 576 

Corporate bonds 12 583 12 583 7 383 7 383 

Mortgage bonds 2 020 2 020 1 570 1 570 

Deposits with banks 11 654 11 654 15 836 15 836 

Loans 6 704 1 724 5 416 2 752 

Due from policy holders 7 774 7 774 5 187 5 187 

Due from intermediaries 1 871 1 871 1 071 1 071 

Receivables from reinsurance activities 271 271 65 65 

Other debtors 1 203 1 203 1 367 1 367 

Reinsurers’ share in outstanding claim technical 

reserve 
8 924 8 924 6 522 6 522 

Cash 2 178 2 178 1 109 1 109 

Total 97 446 92 466 59 102 56 438 

Credit risk arises on the direct insurance amounts receivable and the reinsurance amounts receivable and is 

the risk the counterparty defaults on the payment of the amount due. 

Insurance receivables 

Direct insurance amounts receivable are monitored by management on a periodic basis and policies are 

cancelled if appropriate notification has been provided to the policy holder and the amounts due are not paid. 
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Carrying amounts versus estimated fair values 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, together with the estimated fair values shown in the 

statement of financial position, are as follows: 

 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

 

Carrying 

amount 

LVL’ 000 

Fair value 

LVL’ 000 

Carrying 

amount 

LVL’ 000 

Fair value 

LVL’ 000 

Financial Assets     
Investments at fair value through profit and 

loss  61 895 61 895 25 724 25 724 

Deposits with banks 11 654 11 654 15 836 15 836 

Loans issued 6 704 6 704 5 416 5 416 

Receivables from direct insurance activities 9 645 9 645 6 258 6 258 

Receivables form reinsurance operations 271 271 65 65 

Other receivables 1 203 1 203 1 363 1 363 

Cash and cash equivalents 2 178 2 178 1 109 1 109 

     

Financial liabilities     

Creditors except tax liabilities 7 265 7 265 2 427 2 427 

For bases of fair value determination refer to note 3.4 (d) 

Reinsurance  

The Company reinsures a portion of the risks it underwrites in order to control its exposures to losses and 

protect capital resources. The Company buys facultative and Excess-of-Loss (“XL”) based reinsurance to 

reduce the net exposure and not to exceed the actual margin of solvency. The Company also buys 

reinsurance treaties for the main lines of its business that protect the Company from any cumulative losses 

that may arise from multiple claims resulting from the same event or occurrence. 

From 2008, the Parent company has introduced changes in the reinsurance policy to make it more 

conservative, i.e. reinsurers are now attracted not only for large risk insurance but additional cover is 

acquired for non-typical accumulations of common and rather small risks. For certain lines of business 

(CASCO, Railway, Cargo, equipment) XL treaties have been replaced by Priority Aggregate XL treaty. 

Ceded reinsurance contains credit risk, and such reinsurance recoverables are reported after deductions for 

known insolvencies and uncollectible items. The Company monitors the financial condition of reinsurers on 

an ongoing basis and reviews its reinsurance arrangements periodically.  

Reinsurance is carried out with world-known reinsurance companies with a sound reputation. 

When carrying out reinsurance, the ratings of a reinsurance company are generally not lower than the 

Standard & Poor’s evaluation BBB- (or analogous assessment of another international rating agency). 

Practically all reinsurance is carried out in reinsurance companies whose rating is not lower than the 

Standard & Poor’s assessment A. 

Reinsurance companies cover their liabilities in the time period of up to 30 days. Reinsurance agreements 

also provide cases when upon the insurance indemnity exceeding a certain amount, the reinsurance claim is 

paid immediately.  

During 2011, there have been no cases where a reinsurance company has not met its liabilities to the 

Company. 
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  2011 

Rating Reinsurance debtors 

 

LVL’ 000 

Reinsurer’s share on 

written premiums 

LVL’ 000 

Reinsurer’s share  in 

claims paid 

LVL’ 000 

AA-, AA, AA+ - 2 039 323 

A-, A, A+  - 4 108 2 168 

BBB-, BBB, BBB+ - 134 - 

No rating  271 (384) 288 

TOTAL 271 5 897 2 779 

 

  2010 

Rating Reinsurance debtors 

 

LVL’ 000 

Reinsurer’s share on 

written premiums 

LVL’ 000 

Reinsurer’s share  in 

claims paid 

LVL’ 000 

AAA-, AAA, AAA+ - - 515 

AA-, AA, AA+ 51 1 080 366  

A-, A, A+  - 2 727 - 

BBB-, BBB, BBB+ - 22 - 

No rating  14 369 - 

TOTAL 65 4 198 881 

The effect of reinsurance arrangements is that the Company for each insurance risk has the following own 

retention for the main lines of insurance: 

 2011 2010 

 EUR’000 EUR’000 

Motor own damage insurance 

Reinsured cumulative 

losses above limit 

Reinsured cumulative 

losses above limit 

CMTPL 600 400 

Health insurance  Not reinsured Not reinsured 

Property insurance   600 425 

Travel accident insurance 50 35 

General third party liability 200 200 

Various financial risks 1200 1 138 

Guarantee insurance 1200 1 138 

Compulsory motor third party liability 600 400 

Credit insurance 1000 1 000 

Cargo insurance 600 425 

Personal accident insurance 50 35 

Aircraft third party liability insurance 1950 1 950 

Marine insurance 300 300 

Aircraft insurance 195 195 

Railway insurance 600 425 

Marine third party liability insurance 300 300 

Legal expense insurance Not reinsured Not reinsured 

4.4 Operating risks and risk management 

The Company has determined that customers should receive high quality service. The most significant risk in 

the provision of these services has been defined to be qualified and knowledgeable employees representing 
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the Company. In order to attract and keep middle and top level qualified employees in the Company, the 

Company has implemented a competitive salary and motivation system thus achieving a very high retention 

on the top and middle management level. Retention levels are high also for the specialists’ level (88%) and 

lowest level specialists (73%). The Company has established its training centre, which is engaged in raising 

the employees’ qualification. A knowledge base has been established, which is available to the employees 

and can be used in day-to-day activities. 

In the management’s opinion, the risk that any of the employees may intentionally or unintentionally 

influence the technical result of an insurance line of business by fixing an unreasonably low price or granting 

unreasonably high discounts has been minimised. When fixing the price, the methodologies should be 

strictly followed, but deviations are necessary in connection with the market situation and such deviations 

should be approved by top management. A discount policy is fixed by the Company’s Board and no 

deviations from this policy are permitted. 

A significant tool in ensuring the efficiency of these activities is the information system (IS). The Company’s 

management pay much attention to ensure that these systems work and comply with up-to-date requirements. 

The Company has an IT Department whose assignment  is to ensure and maintain a stable and safe 

environment in the Company’s IS. The activities of the Department are regulated by IS security regulations, 

which have been developed in accordance with the legislation requirements. IS systems should ensure 

constant performance and it should comply with the employees’ and clients’ requirements. Deviations from 

performance are not permitted and it should be ensured 24 hours a day. If necessary, the waiting time has 

been defined which is necessary for renewal of performance if damage to the equipment or information has 

occurred. This time may not exceed 12 hours. 

4.5 Capital adequacy requirements and Capital management  

According to the requirements of the „Law on Insurance Companies and their Supervision” of Latvia, the 

Parent Company should constantly have at its disposal own funds, which should be equal or larger than a 

determined solvency margin. The solvency margin is defined as the larger of the amounts calculated based 

on written premiums or claims paid and the result cannot be smaller than the adjusted solvency margin of the 

prior year or the minimum amount of a guarantee fund announced by the Finance and Capital Market 

Commission of Latvia (FCMC) set at the level of 3 000 EUR in 2011 (2010: 3 000 EUR). 

Equity and solvency compliance 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Capital for capital adequacy (own funds) 22 254 18 033 

Solvency margin 14 792 9 578 

Capital adequacy surplus 7 462 8 455 

Own funds for solvency margin purposes are set without reference to audited results of the reporting year 

which amounts to LVL 3 170 thousand (2010: LVL 3 730 thousand). The effect of including current year 

profit:  

 
31.12.2011 

LVL 

31.12.2010 

LVL 

Capital for capital adequacy including audited profit for the year 25 424 21 762 

Solvency margin  14 792 9 578 

  10 632 12 184  

 

 
2011 

LVL’000 

Coverage by 

own funds  

2010 

LVL’000 

Coverage by 

own funds  

Own funds 22 254 - 18 033 - 

Incurred claims, net 45 028 49% 27 147 66% 

Earned premiums, net 75 175 30% 45 056 40% 

Technical reserves total, net 69 480 32% 40 145 45% 

Investments 74 064 30% 46 215 39% 
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(5) Gross written premiums 

Company  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 

Gross 

written 

premiums 

Reinsurer’s 

share in 

premiums 

Net written 

premiums 

Gross 

written 

premiums 

Reinsurer’s 

share in 

premiums 

Net written 

premiums 

CASCO 14 236 (91) 14 145 11 702  (77) 11 625 

CMTPL Latvia * 5 047 (126) 4 921 6 751 (261) 6 490 

Health insurance 5 235 - 5 235 5 654 - 5 654 

Property insurance  10 825 (1 418) 9 407 6 584  (1 136) 5 448 

Travel accident 

insurance 
3 243 (55) 3 188 1 651 (36) 1 615 

General third party 

liability 
3 445 (683) 2 762 1 232 (425) 807 

Various financial risks 1 266 (653) 613 1 203 (293) 910 

Guarantee insurance 2 359 (771) 1 588 815 (568) 247 

CMTPL in ES except 

Latvia ** 
33 910 (996) 32 914 11 154 (723) 10 431  

Credit insurance 347 (202) 145 234 (130) 104 

Cargo insurance 501 (207) 294 430 (136) 294 

Personal accident 

insurance 
1 476 (14) 1 462 594  (41) 553 

Aircraft third party 

liability insurance 
262 (237) 25 139  (122) 17  

Marine insurance 222 (214) 8 166  (149) 17 

Aircraft insurance 148 (155) (7) 73  (60) 13 

Railway insurance 155 (16) 139 106 (10) 96 

Marine third party 

liability insurance 
73 (59) 14 34  (31) 3 

 82 750 (5 897) 76 853 48 522  (4 198) 44 324 

* The Company makes obligatory deductions in accordance with the law “On compulsory motor third party liability” 

and the related Cabinet of Ministers regulations. Gross written premiums on motor third party liabilities insurance are 

shown net of the obligatory deductions LVL 192 169 (2009: LVL 253 899). 

** CMTPL in ES except Latvia insurance includes foreign CMTPL premiums which are not disclosed under CMTPL 

Latvia and is shown net of the obligatory deductions LVL 952 410 payable to Transport Insurance Bureau in foreign 

countries. 
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Gross written premiums include LVL 21 thousand (2010: LVL 1 145 thousand) of assumed reinsurance. 

According to the law On Motor Vehicles Third Party Liability Obligatory Insurance and the related Cabinet 

Regulations of the Republic of Latvia, the Parent company makes the following obligatory deductions from 

gross premiums written in this insurance type: 

Cofinancing of the activities of the Latvian Motor 

Vehicle Insurance Bureau: 

LVL 0.23 per contract + LVL 2 500 

For the Guarantee Fund and the Interests 

Protection Fund: 

According to a special calculation by taking into 

account the time of contract activity and the insured 

motor vehicle  

For the Road Traffic Safety Fund: 2% from gross written premium 

Gross premiums from direct insurance business and reinsurance assumed are underwritten in the following 

territories: 

Country  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Latvia, Lithuania, Estonia 59 396 29 803 

EU countries 23 354 18 719 

Total 82 750 48 522 

(6) Net earned premiums 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 

Gross earned 

premiums 

Reinsurer’s 

share in 

premiums 

Net earned 

premiums 

Gross earned 

premiums 

Reinsurer’s 

share in 

premiums 

Net earned 

premiums 
 

CASCO  14 011 (97) 13 914 12 516 (78) 12 438  

CMTPL Latvia 5 829 (126) 5 703 7 425 (261) 7 164  

Health insurance 5 382 0 5 382 8 163 - 8 163  

Property insurance  9 526 (1 344) 8 182 6 529 (1 237) 5 292 

General third party 

liability 3 311 (714) 2 597 1 380 (488 ) 892  

Travel accident 

insurance 3 151 (58) 3 093 1 572  (36) 1 536 

Various financial risks 1 419 (576) 843 1 072 (455) 617 

Cargo insurance 557 (237) 320 455 (139) 316 

Personal accident 

insurance 1 281 (17) 1 264 496  (41) 455 

Marine insurance 213 (192) 21 186 (148) 38 

Marine third party 

liability insurance 56 (44) 12 14 (12) 2 

Railway insurance 129 (16) 113 107 (10) 97 

CMTPL in ES except 

Latvia 33 086 (1 085) 32 001 8 197 (698) 7 499 

Aircraft third party 

liability insurance 244 (211) 33 182 (169) 13 

Aircraft insurance 153 (167) (14) 93 (80) 13 

Credit insurance 297 (176) 121 353 (105) 248 

Guarantee insurance 2 726 (1 136) 1 590 686 (413) 273 

 81 371 (6 196) 75 175 49 426 (4 370) 45 056 
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(7) Technical reserves for unearned premiums and unexpired risks 

 Gross Reinsurer share Net 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

    
Balance at 31 December 2009  23 126 (1 454) 21 672 

    
Written premiums 48 522 (4 198) 44 324 
Premiums earned (49 426) 4 370 (45 056) 

Changes during year (904) 172 (732) 
Balance at 31 December 2010  22 222 (1 282) 20 940 

    
Acquired as a result of merging with the 
subsidiary 

9 829 (360) 9 469 

Written premiums 82 750 (5 897) 76 853 
Premiums earned (81 371) 6 196 (75 175) 

Changes during year 1 379 299 1 678 
Balance at 31 December 2011  33 430 (1 343) 32 086 

 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 Gross Net Gross Net 

Unearned premium reserve 33 320 31 977 21 986 20 704 

Unexpired risk reserve 110 110 236 236 

 33 430 32 087 22 222 20 940 

(8) Other technical income 

Company  

  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Fee for  policy amendments and cancellation 64 34 

Decrease in impairment allowance for receivables from direct insurance 

and reinsurance operations 348 320 

Agent fee from other insurance companies 19 - 

Other income - 2  

 431 356 

The Company acts as an agent when paying out insurance claims on behalf of other non-resident companies. 

The Company does not accept insurance risks and receives full reimbursement of claims paid on behalf of 

other insurance companies. The Company receives an agent fee for the services.  
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(9) Gross paid claims 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 

Gross claims 

paid 

Reinsurer’s 

share in claim 

Net claims 

paid 

Gross claims 

paid 

Reinsurer’s 

share in claim 

Net claims 

paid 

CASCO  (9 912) 0 (9 912) (7 606) 19 (7 587) 

CMTPL Latvia (4 925)  (4 925) (3 956) - (3 956) 

CMTPL in ES except 

Latvia (20 688) 335 (20 353) (3 911) - (3 911) 

Health insurance (3 472) 0 (3 472) (5 523) - (5 523) 

Property insurance  (4 926) 1 999 (2 927) (2 467) 202 (2 265) 

General third party 

liability (307) 9 (298) (123) 1 (122) 

Travel accident 

insurance (614) 0 (614) (292) 18 (274) 

Various financial risks 26 (17) 9 (28) 9 (19) 

Cargo insurance (186) 10 (176) (421) 224 (197) 

Personal accident 

insurance (511) 89 (422) (255) 12 (243) 

Marine insurance (73) 27 (46) (234) 201 (33) 

Railway insurance (4) 0 (4) (3) - (3) 

Aircraft insurance (5) 0 (5) (54) 45 (9) 

Credit insurance (83) 64 (19) (91) 60 (31) 

Aircraft third party 

liability insurance (7) 6 (1) (5) 5 - 

Guarantee insurance (509) 257 (252) (132) 85 (47) 

 (46 196) 2 779 (43 417) (25 101) 881  (24 220) 

Gross claims paid include:  

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Paid claims (45 414) (24 743) 

Loss adjustment expenses  (3 116) (1 735) 

Allocated from Administrative expenses* (1 069) (1 054) 

Recovered losses 2 334 1 377 

 (46 196) (25 101) 

*Loss adjustment expenses allocated from admin expenses include salary and social contributions dealing with claims 

handling. 
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(10) Outstanding claim technical reserve 

 Gross Reinsurer share Net 
 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 
    
Balance at  
31 December 2009  19 916 (3 638) 16 278 

Claims incurred during the period 30 912 (3 765) 27 147 
Claims paid  (25 101) 881 (24 220) 

Changes during year 5 811 (2 884) 2 927 
Balance at  
31 December 2010  25 727 (6 522) 19 205 

    
Acquired as a result of merging with the 

subsidiary 20 537 (3 960) 16 577 
    

Claims incurred during the period 46 249 (1 221) 45 028 
Claims paid  (46 196) 2 779 (43 417) 

Changes during year 53 1 558 1 611 
Balance at  
31 December 2011 46 317 (8 924) 37 393 

 

 
2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 Gross Net Gross Net 

RBNS 34 702 25 778 16 429 9 907 

IBNR 11 615 11 615 9 298  9 298 

 46 317 37 393 25 727 19 205 
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(11) Net incurred claims 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 

Gross claims 

incurred 

Reinsurer’s 

share in 

claim 

Net claims 

incurred 

Gross claims 

incurred 

Reinsurer’s 

share in 

claim 

Net claims 

incurred 

Personal accident (392) 13 (379) (384) 89 (295) 

Health insurance (2 963) 0 (2 963) (3 983) - (3 983) 

CASCO (10 062) (50) (10 112) (7 213) 19 (7 194) 

Railway insurance  (9) 0 (9) (3) - (3) 

Aircraft insurance (5) 0 (5) (49) 45 (4) 

Marine insurance (141) 27 (114) (231) 200  (31) 

Cargo insurance 14 (125) (111) (107) (199) (306) 

Property insurance (5 108) 1 569 (3 539) (5 493) 3 123 (2 370) 

CMTPL in ES 

except Latvia 
(21 089) (967) (22 056) (6 799) - (6 799) 

Aircraft third party 

liability insurance 
376 (351) 25 (334) 361  27 

Marine third party 

liability insurance 
(2) 0 (2) (1) - (1) 

General third party 

liability 
(1 301) 792 (509) (101) 1  (100) 

Credit insurance (56) 20 (36) (24) 9  (15) 

Guarantee insurance (1 041) 311 (730) (188) 101 (87) 

Financial risks 81 (18) 63 (97) (1) (98) 

Legal expense 

insurance 
0 0 0 (1) - (1) 

Travel insurance (625) 0 (625) (355) 17  (338) 

CMTPL Latvia (3 926) (0) (3 926) (5 549) - (5 549) 

 (46 249) 1 221 (45 028) (30 912) 3 765  (27 147) 

(12) Client acquisition costs 

Company  

  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Commission paid to intermediaries 14 362 7 542 

Commission paid for reinsurance 3 6 

Salaries to agents 1 732 299 

 16 097 7 847 
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(13) Deferred client acquisition costs 

 LVL’000 
Balance at 31 December 2009  1 771 
  
Written commissions 7 847 
Deferred commissions allocated to statement of comprehensive income (6 739) 

Changes during year 1 108 
Balance at 31 December 2010  2 879 

  
Acquired as a result of merging with the subsidiary 1 011 
Calculated intermediary commission of future periods 262 
Written commissions 16 097 
Deferred commissions allocated to statement of comprehensive income (14 701) 

Changes during year 1 396 
Balance at 31 December 2011  5 548 

(14) Administrative expenses 

 
2011 

LVL’000 
 2010 

LVL’000 

Salaries and social contribution expenses 8 273 6 536 

Allocated to loss adjustment expenses (1 069) (1 054) 

Other personal expenses 485 392 

Rent payments 684 398 

Utility expenses (electricity, heating, water) 341 222 

Advertising expenses 527 492 

Legal expenses 164 111 

Own property repairment and maintanance  185 264 

Rented property repairment and maintanance 27 17 

Cleaning expenses 75 40 

Press subscription, documenatation, books 78 62 

Paper purchases 27 21 

Low value inventory 43 33 

Machinery maintenance costs 62 48 

Computer maintenance 46 47 

Expenses for security services 75 68 

Presentation expenses 199 158 

Other business related costs 406 271 

Fixed asset residual value write off  45 0 

Audit and consultant services 84 81 

Computer programs rent and maintenance 300 180 

Telecommunication costs 507 451 

Typographic costs 113 80 

Car maintenance costs 579 497 

Obligatory payments* 458 320 

Penalty payments 1 6 

 12 715 9 741 

*According to the Latvian legislation 0.20% (2010: 0.20%) of gross premiums in the MTLP line and 0.555% (2010: 

0.546%) of gross premiums in other lines of insurance should be transferred to the FCMC. Payments to the Interests 

Protection Fund should be made amounting to 1% of premiums paid by private person policyholders for certain lines of 

insurance. 
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The allocation of administrative expenses to claims handling costs is based on personnel expenses incurred 

in claims handling department.  

Administrative expenses allocated by insurance types:  

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Personal accident 257 136 

Health insurance 768 1 033 

CASCO 2 147 2 310 

Railway insurance  24 23 

Aircraft insurance 23 14 

Marine insurance 34 26 

Cargo insurance 107 76 

Property insurance 1 649 1 340 

CMTPL in ES except Latvia 3 693 2 290 

Aircraft third party liability insurance 40 30 

Marine third party liability insurance 11 7 

General third party liability 613 263 

Credit insurance 66 61 

Guarantee insurance 480 170 

Financial risks 197 261 

Travel insurance 530 369 

CMTPL Latvia 2 076 1 332 

 12 715 9 741 

(15) Reinsurers’ commission income 

  

2011 

LVL’000

2010 

LVL’000

Reinsurers’ commission 813 344 

Retrocession commission 269 112 

 1 082 456 

(16) Change in unearned reinsurance commission 

 LVL’000 
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2009  278 
  
Written commissions (456) 
Deferred commissions allocated to profit or loss 383 

Changes during year (73) 
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2010  205 

  
Written commissions (1 082) 
Deferred commissions allocated to profit or loss 1 211 

Changes during year 129 
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2011  334 
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(17) Other technical expenses 

 

2011 

LVL‘000 

2010 

LVL‘000 
Impairment allowance for receivables from direct insurance and 

reinsurance operations 71 - 

Expenses related to distribution of policies of other insurers 315 - 

Change in equalization reserves, net - 10 

Other  54 227 

 440 237 

(18) Investment management charges 

  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Transaction commissions 18 22 

Other charges 55 30 

 73 52 

(19) Interest income and dividend income, net 

  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1 658 959 

Rental income from investment property 34 34 

Interest income from deposits with credit institutions 475 714 

Dividends from investments held as available for sale 42 15 

Interest on loans 205 296 

 2 414 2 018 

(20) Profit/ (loss) from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 

net 

  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Non-fixed income securities  (165) 166 

Fixed income securities 120 1 193 

 (45) 1 359 

(21) Impairment loss 

  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Increase in allowances for bad debts, other than insurance debts (414) - 

Increase in allowances for loans (491) (446) 

 (905) (446) 
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(22) Other income/expenses, net 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Gifts to staff (3) - 

Donations (91) (104) 

Membership fees (3) (1) 

Real estate tax (38) (36) 

Other expenses (68) (14) 

Income from fines 1 1 

Other income 112 39 

(90) (115) 

(23) Income tax expense 

  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Current tax 427 471 

Previous period correction - 2 

Deferred tax (142) 109 

 285 582 

 

 2011 2010 
 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Profit before tax 3 455 4 312 
Theoretical tax using the 15% rate  518 647 

Net of (income)/expenses not applicable/deductible for tax purposes (32) 21 

Donations (70) (86) 

Utilized tax losses (131) - 

Tax expenses 285 582 

Income declared by the Estonian and German branch is taxable in Latvia. 

According to the double taxation treaty between Latvia and Lithuania income declared by the Lithuanian 

branch is taxable in Lithuania. According to the treaty, the Company applies the release method in order to 

avoid double taxation. When determining taxable income, income generated by the Company’s branch in 

Lithuania is not taken into account. Taxable income was reduced by the Company’s income for the taxation 

period that was generated in Lithuania and included in the profit or loss statement of the Company and the 

taxable amount has been increased by the amount of expenses that are connected with generating the above 

income and included in the profit or loss statement of the Company. 

(24) Reinsurance cession result 

 2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Reinsurance premiums (5 897) (4 198) 

Changes in reinsurers’ share in unearned premiums reserve (299) (172) 

Reinsurers’ share in claims paid 2 779 881 

Changes in reinsurers’ share in reserve for outstanding claims (1 558) 2 884 

Reinsurance commissions and profit participation 1 082 456 

Change in unearned reinsurance commissions (129) 73 

Total reinsurance cession result (4 022) (76) 
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(25) Property and equipment 

 Vehicles 

Other property 

and equipment Total 

Cost LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

31.12.2009 - 1 340 1 340 
Purchased  116 207 323 

Advance payments for fixed assets  - 28 28 

31.12.2010 116 1 575 1 691 
Purchased 916 369 1 285 

Acquired as a result of merging with the subsidiary 531 453 984 

Advance payments for fixed assets  142 142 

Disposals (248) (986) (1 234) 

31.12.2011 1 315 1 553 2 868 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

31.12.2009 - (943) (943) 

Depreciation for the year (8) (209) (217) 

31.12.2010 (8) (1 152) (1 160) 

Depreciation for the year (309) (255) (564) 

Acquired as a result of merging with the subsidiary (204) (364) (568) 

Depreciation on disposed assets 193 981 1 174 

31.12.2011 (328) (790) (1 118) 

Balance at 31.12.2010 108 423 531 

Balance at 31.12.2011 987 763 1 750 
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(26) Land and buildings and Investment property 

 

Land and 

Building 

Investments 

Property 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Deemed cost 31.12.2009  3 677 2 389 
of which revaluation prior to 31.12.2009 2 041 2 110 

   

Purchased   

Revaluation recognised in other comprehensive income (61)  

Impairment recognised (251) (33) 

Deemed cost 31.12.2010  3 365 2 356 
of which revaluation prior to 31.12.2010 1 729 2 077 

   

Purchased 75 - 

Acquired as a result of merging with the subsidiary 191 - 

Deemed cost 31.12.2011  3 631 2 356 

of which revaluation prior to 31.12.2011 1 729 2 077 

   

Accumulated depreciation   

31.12.2009  (84) - 

Depreciation (169) - 

31.12.2010  (253) - 

Depreciation (156) - 

31.12.2011  (409) - 
   

Statement of financial position 31.12.2010  3 112 2 356 

Statement of financial position 31.12.2011  3 222 2 356 

The last revaluation was performed by an independent certified valuation expert in November 2010 and was 

based on comparative market prices. Management have assessed updated information about changes in 

market prices and concluded that the fair value of property as at reporting period end date is not materially 

different from the value as at date of valuations which agrees to its carrying amount as at reporting period 

end date. 

(27) Intangible assets 

 Software and licenses 

 LVL 

Cost   

31.12.2009  167 

Purchased 11 

31.12.2010  178 

Purchased 92 

Acquired as a result of merging with the subsidiary 280 

Disposed (29) 

31.12.2011  521 

  

Accumulated amortisation  

31.12.2009  (81) 

Amortisation for the year (24) 

31.12.2010  (105) 

Amortisation for the year (93) 

Acquired as a result of merging with the subsidiary (171) 

Disposed asset amortisation 29 

31.12.2011  (340) 

Balance at 31.12.2010 73 

Balance at 31.12.2011 181 
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(28) Investments at fair value through profit or loss 

Non-fixed income securities 

2011  

LVL’000 

2010  

LVL’000 

 

Purchase 

cost Fair value 

Purchase 

cost Fair value 

Shares and other equity securities 952 889 758 738 

Investments in investment funds 4 256 4 064 2 433 2 388 

Other non-fixed income securities 54 75 54 69 

 5 262 5 028 3 245 3 195 

 

Fixed income securities 

2011  

LVL’000 

2010  

LVL’000 

 

Purchase 

cost Fair value 

Purchase 

cost Fair value 
Debt securities issued or guaranteed by 

central governments or municipalities 41 358 42 259 13 205 13 576 

Mortgage bonds 2 018 2 022 1 570 1 570 

Debt securities and other securities with 

fixed income, which are included in a 

regulated market 12 729 12 586 7 292 7 383 

 56 105 56 867 22 067 22 529 

 

Investment portfolio of fixed income securities by geography: 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Latvia, Lithuania 17 183 7 779 

Other European Union countries 36 348 12 776 

North America 1 775 1 066 

South America 552 - 

CIS 1 009 908 

 56 867 22 529 
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(29) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are shares in other companies which are not quoted. 

These are stated at cost as fair value is not possible to determine. Largest equities gross amounts and net of 

impairment are following:  

 

2011  

LVL’000 

2010  

LVL’000 

 Gross 

Net, after 

impairment 

recognised Gross 

Net, after 

impairment 

recognised 
BTA Īpašumi (19.94%) 179 179 179 179 

Kroha OOO (19.5%) 196 196 196 196 

Other 147 140 44 37 

 522 515 419 412 

 

 

Carrying amounts  

31.12.2010 412 

Assumed on reorganisation 103 

31.12.2011  515 

 
 2011 2010 
 LVL’000 LVL’000 
Allowance as at 1 January (7)  (7)  

Written-off - - 
Allowance as at 31 December  (7) (7) 

(30) Deposits with banks 

Investment maturity structure: 
2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

With maturity not longer than 3 months 3 636 3 882 

With maturity from 3 to 6 months  1 575 1 708 

With maturity from 6 to 12 months  4 380 7 883 

With maturity from 1 to 5 years 2 063 2 363 

 11 654 15 836 
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(31) Loans  

Structure of loan portfolio 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Amount of loan, gross 10 540 8 898 

Accrued interest payments 333 196 

Impairment allowance (4 169) (3 678) 

6 704 5 416 

 
 Gross 
 LVL’ 000 
  
Allowance as at 31 December 2009  (3 232) 

Charge for the year (1 115) 

Recoveries 669 
Allowance as at 31 December 2010  (3 678) 

Charge for the year (753) 

Recoveries 262 
Allowance as at 31 December 2011  (4 169) 

The following table provides an analysis of the loan portfolio, net of impairment, by types of collateral as at 

31 December: 

 2011 2010 

 Amortised cost Fair Value Amortised cost Fair Value 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 
Mortgage loans 4 981 4 981 2 664 2 664 

Other loans 1 723 1 723 2 752 2 752 

Total loans 6 704  6 704  5 416  5 416  

 

 
2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Overdue mortgage loans   

Overdue more than 12 months  3 319  2 474 

Overdue 3 to 12 months  - 331 

Overdue up to 3 months - - 

Not overdue mortgage loans 4 976 2 700 

Impairment allowance (3 314) (2 841) 

Mortgage loans 4 981 2 664 

Overdue other loans   

Overdue more than 12 months  474 9 

Overdue 3 to 12 months  44 415 

Overdue up to 3 months 155 39  

Not overdue other loans 1 905 3 126 

Impairment allowance (855) (837) 

Other loans 1 723 2 752 

Total loans 6 704 5 416 
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Mortgage loans 

Mortgage loans: 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Loans to individuals 256 296 

Loans to non-financial institutions 8 039 5 209 

Impairment allowance (3 314)  (2 841) 

4 981 2 664 

Other loans 

 

Other loans: 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Loans to individuals 226 282 

Loans to non-financial institutions 2 352 3 307 

Impairment allowance (855) (837) 

1 723 2 752 

Loans with maturity more than 5 years as at 31 December 2011 were  LVL 147 thousand (2010: LVL 267 

thousand). 

(32) Receivables from direct insurance activities 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Due from policy holders 8 414 5 816 

Due from intermediaries 1 893 1 071 

Impairment allowance for bad debtors (662) (629) 

9 645 6 258 

 

 Allowance for 

policy holders 

Allowance for 

intermediaries 

Total allowance 

for insurance 

debtors 
 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

    

Allowance as at 31 December 2009  (924) (25) (949) 

Impairment loss reversed 295 25 320 

    

Allowance as at 31 December 2010  (629) - (629) 

Assumed in reorganizarion   (359) (6) (365) 

Impairment loss reversed 348  348 

Impairment loss charge - (16) (16) 

Allowance as at 31 December 2011  (640) (22) (662) 
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 2011 2010

LVL’000 LVL’000

Other intermediaries 1 893 1 071

Allowances for doubtful debts (22) -

Intermediaries 1 871 1 071

Overdue receivables  

More than 3 months  172 488

Less than 3 months 952 792

Outstanding receivables not yet due 7 290 4 536

Allowances for doubtful debts (640) (629)

Policyholders 7 774 5 187

Total direct insurance debtors: 9 645 6 258

(33) Other receivables 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Employees - 6 

Advance payments 482 132 

Other debtors   987 451 

Settlements with related parties - 799  

Impairment allowance (266) (21) 

 1 203 1 367 

 

 Gross 
 LVL’000 

  

Allowance as at 31 December 2009  (21) 

Decrease of allowance - 

Written off - 

Allowance as at 31 December 2010 (21) 

Decrease of allowance (245) 

Written off - 

Allowance as at 31 December 2010  (266) 

(34) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Cash on hand 14 9 

Current accounts with credit institutions 2 164 1 100 

Cash on hand 2 178 1 109 

Deposits with original maturity less than 3 months 2 091 3 882 

Cash and cash equivalents 4 269 4 991 
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(35) Obligatory payments disclosed in statement of cash flows 

  

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Latvian Transport Insurance Bureau  212 251 

Other (foreign) Transport Insurance Bureau 783  

FCMC (Financial and Capital Market Commission) 301 196 

Foreign insurance supervisory institutions 53  

Protection Fund 138 100 

 1 487 547 

(36) Capital and reserves 

Share capital 

The authorized and issued share capital of the Company at 31 December 2011 was LVL 10,000,000 and 

comprised of 100,000 shares (2010: LVL 10,000,000) and is fully paid. Nominal value of one share was 

LVL100. After changing legal status from JSC to SE in  2011, share capital is denominated in EUR. As the 

result there are changes in number of shares. Nominal value of one share is 1 EUR, number of shares  

14 228 718. Share capital translated into LVL stays the same 10 000 000 LVL. 

 2011 2010 

 Number of 

shares LVL’000 

Number of 

shares LVL’000 

Ordinary shares with voting rights 13 659 569 9 600 96 000 9 600 

Preference shares without voting rights 569 149 400 4 000 400 

 14 228 718 10 000 100 000 10 000 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared and are entitled to one vote per 

share at meetings of the Company and rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. Holders of 

preference shares are entitled to receive dividends, but do not have voting rights. The holders of preference 

shares have preference over ordinary shareholders on the residual assets. 

The rights to purchase preference shares are given to employees and the management of the Company by a 

decision of the shareholders’ meeting. 

 2011 2010 

Company’s shareholders: 

Number of 

shares Shareholding 

Number of 

shares Shareholding 

Transport Information Agency AS 1 363 111 9.58% 9 578 9.58% 

Individuals, directly each owning less than 

33% 12 865 607 90.42% 90 422 90.42% 

 14 228 718 100% 100 000 100% 
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Revaluation reserve 

The revaluation reserve relates to revaluation on property, plant and equipment used by the company for its 

own activities, net of deferred tax.  

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Land and buildings revaluation reserves 1 984 1 984 

Deferred tax liabilities at 15% (298) (298) 

 1 686 1 686 

 

 LVL’000 

Balance at 31 December 2009  1 738 

Revaluation reserve decrease (61) 

Deferred tax  from changes in revaluation reserve 9 

Balance at 31 December 2010  1 686 

Revaluation reserve decrease - 

Deferred tax  from changes in revaluation reserve - 

Balance at 31 December 2011  1 686 

Equalisation reserve 

The Company has established an equalisation reserve to cover unanticipated future random fluctuations of 

claim expenses around the expected value of claims for credit insurance contracts based on experience over a 

number of years.  

Reserve capital and other reserves 

According to decisions made by the shareholders, a part of the profit has been transferred to reserve capital 

and other reserves. These reserves are available for shareholders and there are no restrictions on those 

reserves. 

Dividends 

In 2011 in accordance with shareholders’ decision profit of 2010 in the amount of LVL 730 thousand was 

distributed in dividends that were partially paid in cash and partially covered with debtors. 

Average dividends paid per 1 share amounted to LVL 0.051 (in 2010 LVL 9.50). 
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(37) Deferred tax assets/ (liabilities) 

Latvia: 2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Deferred tax net liability at 1 January 2011 (560) (460) 

Deferred tax during the reporting period attributable to profit or loss 142 (109) 

Deferred tax recognised in other comprehensive income - 9 

Deferred tax net liability at 31 December 2011 (418) (560) 

 

Other jurisdictions: 2011 

LVL’000 

Deferred tax net asset at 1 January  - 

Acquired as a result of merging with the subsidiary 278 

  

Deferred tax  net asset at 31 December   278 

Deferred tax net liabilities include the following items: 

Latvia: 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

Property and equipment   (580) - (565) 

Provisions 175  209  

Temporary revaluation difference  (13) - (204) 

Net deferred tax liabilities  (418)  (560)  

In other jurisdictions deferred tax net asset include the following items: 

Other jurisdictions: 
2011 

LVL’000 

 Assets Liabilities 

   

Provisions 131 - 

Tax loss carry-forwards 147 - 

Net seferred tax assets 278 - 

No offset with the deferred tax liability was made, due to the different jurisdictions.  
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(38) Taxes and social contributions 

Tax type 

Balance at 

31.12.2010.  Overtaken 

Calculated in 

2011 

(Paid) in 

2011 

Mutually 

covered 

Balance at 

31.12.2011.  

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Social tax 172 80 3 002 (2 802) (170) 282 

Personal income tax 102 (25) 1 570 (1 519) (64) 64 

VAT 20 7 415 (414) - 28 

Property tax - 3 33 (34) - 2 

Risk Duty - 1 4 (5) - - 

Other taxes 2 1 727 (737) - (7) 

CIT Latvia (312) - 427 (493) 234 (144) 

CIT in other countries - (24) - - - (24) 

Total (16) 43 6 178 (6 004) - 201 

Including: 

CIT prepayment (312) (168) 

Other tax 

prepayment - (79) 

Other tax liabilities 296 448 

 

Tax payable 

31.12.2010 

Tax 

receivable  

31.12.2010 

Calculated  

in 2011 

(Paid)  

in 2011 

Tax payable 

31.12.2011 

Tax 

receivable  

31.12.2011 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Latvia 250 (312) 3 336 (3 101) 317 (144) 

Lithuania - - 1 800 (1 801) 102 (103) 

Estonia 44 - 359 (366) 37 - 

Germany 2 - 726 (736) - (8) 

Total 296 (312) 6 221 (6 004) 456 (255) 

(39) Reinsurance creditors 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Reinsurance companies 819 882 

Reinsurance brokers 868 232 

 1 687 1 114 

 

Reinsurance creditors distributed by countries are as follows: 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

European Union member countries 1 532 1 113 

Commonwealth of Independent States, Central Asia 127 1 

USA 28 - 

  1 687 1 114 
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(40) Other creditors 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Due to the Transport Insurance Bureau 316 55 

Due to employees (remuneration) 238 166 

Due to the Financial Capital and Market Commission 86 95 

Prior year unpaid dividends - 2 

Other creditors 392 293 

 1 032 611 

(41) Related parties 

Related parties are defined as shareholders of the Company, members of the Board and the Supervisory 

Council, their close relatives and companies in which they have significant influence or control. 

A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold ownership in other entities that result 

in them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of these entities. 

The Company has the following significant transactions with related parties: 

During the course of operations in 2010 the Company assumed and reinsured certain risks with subsidiary 

BTA Draudimas UAB.  

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Received insurance premium for assumed reinsurance - 1 086 

Paid claims  - (139) 

Received interest - 56 

   

Loans issued to related parties: 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 
Mortgage loans issued to the companies controlled by board and council 

members 4 412 2 071 

Impairment allowance (935) (803) 

Mortgage loans issued to the companies controlled by board and council 

members, net  3 477 1 268 

   

Loans issued to Council and Board members 124 176 

Impairment allowance (42) (42) 

Other loans issued to Council and Board members, net 82 134 

   

Subordinated loans issued to subsidiary - 1 189 

   

Other loans issued to the related parties 546 1 033 

Impairment allowance (164) (244) 

Other loans issued to other related parties, net 382 789 

Loan balances issued to related parties, net 3 941 3 380 
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2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Other receivables 

Other receivables 32 35 

Allowances for bad debts - - 

Other receivables, net 32 35 

   

Other payables  7 

   

Certain Board and Council members of the Company have joined the boards of the abovementioned 

borrowing companies. The Company monitors closely the use of loans issued to ensure the credit risk is 

minimised. 

The collateral of mortgage loans issued to companies controlled by board and council members has been 

evaluated by an independent valuer in period from 2009 to 2011.   

The interest rate on loans issued according to agreements varies from 3% to 6%.  

Information about other transactions with related parties: 

A property maintenance agreement was signed and property provided for maintenance to a related party. 

Members of the management or their related parties acquire insurance products of the Company. 

(42) Provisions 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

Provision for staff bonuses 53 53 

Provisions for unused employee vacations 614 419 

Provisions for court claims 45 39 

Other provisions 5 5  

 717 516 

 
 Gross 
 LVL’000 
  
Provisions as at 31 December 2009  502 
  

Paid (497) 

Increase of provisions 511 
  
Provisions as at 31 December 2010 516 

  

Paid (420) 

Increase of provisions 399 

Assumed as a result of reorganization 222 
  
Provisions as at 31 December 2011 717 



BTA INSURANCE COMPANY SE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

 

71 

(43) Number of employees and information on branches 

Insurance agents are persons who pursue insurance mediation on behalf of and in the interests of only one 

insurance company, but are not employees of the Company. 

Number of employees as at end of the year: 

 2011 2010 

Branches in Latvia 628 636 

Branches in Lithuania 461 8 

Germany branch 11 6 

Estonian branch 46 69 

 1 146 719 

Number of branches and sales points: 

 2011 2010 

Foreign country branches 3 3 

Customer service centres abroad 109 121 

Regional centres 3 5 

Branches in Latvia 23 22 

Customer service centres 16 17 

Insurance policy selling points  40 41 

 194 209 

 

  2011 2010 

Average number of employees 1 155 785 

 1 155 785 

(44) Personnel expenses 

 2011 2010 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Remuneration 7 830 5 445 

Social contribution expenses 2 175 1 390 

 10 005 6 835 

 

 2011 2010 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Employees (included in administrative expenses) 8 273 6 536 

Agents (included in client acquisition costs ) 1 732 299 

 10 005 6 835 

 2011 2010 

Employees 1 146 719 

Agents 170 119 

 1 316 838 
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(45) Information on the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and 

Supervisory Council 

 2011 2010 

 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Supervisory Council 116 55 

Board of Directors 193 112 

Social contribution expenses 74 40 

 383 207 

Remuneration to the Board and Council members includes remuneration for their direct responsibilities 

because all members of the Board and Council are employees of the Company. 

(46) Remaining maturities of insurance liabilities 

 

2011 

LVL’000 

2010 

LVL’000 

 

Gross 

liabilities 

Reinsu-

rance 

Net 

liabilities 

Gross 

liabilities 

Reinsu-

rance 

Net 

liabilities 

Unearned premium 

and unexpired risk 

technical reserves 33 430 (1 343) 32 087 22 222 (1 282) 20 940 

Outstanding claim 

technical reserves 46 317 (8 924) 37 393 25 727 (6 522) 19 205 

Total 79 747 (10 267) 69 480 47 949 (7 804) 40 145 

       

Up to 1 year 68 132 (10 267) 57 865 38 650 (7 804) 30 846 

1-5 years 11 615 - 11 615 9 299 - 9 299 

(47) Operating leases 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 

 
31 December 

2011 

31 December 

2010 
 LVL’000 LVL’000 

Within one year 25 59 

From 1 to 2 years 2 33 

From 2 to 3 years - 4 

Total 27 96 

(48) Off balance sheet items and contingent liabilities 

General claims 

In the normal course of the business the Company receives claims from policyholders. Management has 

reviewed such claims and believes that no material liabilities will arise from these cases other than already 

provided for. 

Litigation  

As at 31 December 2011 there were no other open legal claims against the Company than shown in note 47.  

Credit related commitments 

As at 31 December 2011 the Company did not have off balance sheet credit related commitments. 

Capital commitments 

As at 31 December 2011 the Company did not have any capital commitments. 
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